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HEAD OFFICE
Karrakatta Cemetery
Railway Road
Karrakatta WA
Postal Address:
PO Box 53
Claremont WA 6910
Telephone: 1300 793 109
Facsimile: (08) 9384 9273 
Email: mcb@mcb.wa.gov.au

OTHER LOCATIONS
Fremantle Cemetery
Cnr Carrington Road and Leach Highway
Palmyra WA
Postal Address:
PO Box 222
Palmyra WA 6957
Telephone: 1300 793 109
Facsimile: (08) 9339 8992

Pinnaroo Valley Memorial Park
Whitfords Avenue
Padbury WA
Postal Address:
PO Box 362
Hillarys WA 6923
Telephone: 1300 793 109
Facsimile: (08) 9401 3144

Midland Cemetery
Myles Road
Swanview WA
Postal Address:
PO Box 362
Hillarys WA 6923
Telephone: 1300 793 109
Facsimile: (08) 9401 3144

Guildford Cemetery
Kalamunda Road
South Guildford WA
Postal Address:
PO Box 362
Hillarys WA 6923
Telephone: 1300 793 109
Facsimile: (08) 9401 3144

Rockingham Regional Memorial Park
Baldivis Road
Baldivis WA 
Postal Address: 
PO Box 222
Palmyra WA 6957
Telephone: 1300 793 109
Facsimile: (08) 9339 8992
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

For the year ended 30 June 2017

Hon. David Templeman MLA
Minister for Local Government; Heritage; Culture and the Arts

In accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 (WA), we hereby submit for your information and 
presentation to Parliament the Annual Report of the Metropolitan Cemeteries Board for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2017.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 
2006 (WA), Treasurer’s Instruction 903 and the Annual Reporting Framework 2016–2017 issued by the 
Public Sector Commission.

We advise that the Financial Statements contained in the attached report have been audited by the Office 
of the Auditor General and contain the relevant audit opinions.

Dr Leonie Liveris  
CHAIR

Peter Deague 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Hon. David Templeman 
MLA Minister for Local Government;  
Heritage; Culture and the Arts
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OVERVIEW

The Metropolitan Cemeteries Board 
(MCB) is a fully self-funded statutory 
authority. The MCB manages six 
cemetery and memorial park sites 
throughout metropolitan Perth: 
Fremantle, Karrakatta, Midland and 
Guildford Cemeteries, and Pinnaroo 
Valley and Rockingham Regional 
Memorial Parks. These locations 
offer a range of differing facilities and 
services including burial, cremation, 
memorialisation and entombment.

OUR VALUES
The Metropolitan Cemeteries Board is a leader 
in cemetery management and through our values 
demonstrates this to our staff, clients, stakeholders 
and the environment through:
• compassion
• respect
• understanding
• integrity.

OUR VISION
Achieving excellence in the provision of quality 
cemetery facilities and services.

OUR MISSION
Delivering a caring and sensitive experience with 
burial, cremation and memorialisation services that 
reflect the community’s values and beliefs.

Grounds staff tending the lawn near the Tree of Life

Family consultation at Pinnaroo

ABOUT US
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Satisfaction Ratings
The community’s satisfaction with MCB services 
remained high this year, with an outstanding rating 
of 95.6% for complete or high satisfaction, as 
measured through the annual customer survey. 
This result shows the ongoing commitment by 
MCB staff to understand and service the needs 
of the Western Australian community and to 
consistently provide that service at the highest 
possible level.

Rockingham Regional Memorial Park 
Crematorium Project
The construction of the Rockingham Regional 
Memorial Park (RRMP) crematorium was 
near completion as at 30 June 2017. The new 
crematorium, the first of its kind in the south-west 
corridor, will make cremation facilities readily 
available and easily accessible to those within 
both the immediate and the broader vicinity of the 
facility. The facility will be operational in the first 
quarter of the new financial year.

Memorial Parks and Estates
The MCB continued its commitment to the 
community by providing more commemoration 
choices across its sites. MCB staff developed 
new areas for burials and memorialisation to meet 
the diverse needs of the community throughout 
the review period. Key developments included 
progress on the Santalum Court memorial gardens 
at Pinnaroo Valley Memorial Park (PVMP) and 
the provision of a new niche wall in Karrakatta’s 
spectacular rose gardens.

Supporting the Community
The MCB continued its support of Cancer Council 
Western Australia and donated the $20,301 
received from the cremation and surgical metals 
recycling program. The MCB has always been 
adamant that funds raised from the recycling 
program be diverted back to the community and is 
pleased that the MCB donation is used to assist 
in meeting the operating costs for both Milroy and 
Crawford Lodges, which are facilities providing 
accommodation for regional guests undergoing 
cancer treatment.

HIGHLIGHTS FOR 2016/17

Newly completed paths in Santalum Court at Pinnaroo
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A YEAR IN REVIEW
It is my pleasure to present the Annual Report of 
the Metropolitan Cemeteries Board (MCB) for the 
year 2016/17. The Annual Report presents the work 
and achievements of the MCB Board and staff to 
the Minister for Local Government, the Hon. David 
Templeman, and to Parliament. During this past 
year, the CEO and Chair met with ministers from 
the previous government to discuss the issues 
facing the Board and the initiatives arising from 
the 2012–2017 Strategic Plan review. Since the 
change of government we have been pleased 
to meet with our appointed Minister for Local 
Government, the Hon. David Templeman MLA, who 
has indicated his support and looks forward to our 
cooperation and professional relationship.

Government Departments and Local Councils
During this past year the CEO and Chair met with 
various local governments and State Government 
departments regarding future cemetery planning. 
The MCB is working with the Department of 
Planning, Lands and Heritage and the Western 
Australian Planning Commission to identify 
suitable land for cemetery purposes in the north-
east urban corridor with a cemetery design similar 
to Pinnaroo, which will ensure burial areas and 
memorial gardens amongst native vegetation for 
recreation and family visits. As one of the fastest 
growing urban development areas, such a fully 
functional cemetery is essential.

The latest demographic research of population 
growth now centres on the south-east corridor in 
the Serpentine-Jarrahdale precinct. As the MCB 
now has the title for the Whitby Falls land and 
is hopeful for more land, concept planning and 
design can be considered. Western Australia 
is the only state with a sustainability plan for 
cemetery land.

Cemetery Renewal
The cemetery renewal program continues at 
Karrakatta Cemetery. We are pleased that this 
decision taken in the 1990s has generally been 
well received by the community. A further three 
sections were approved by the Minister for lawn 
and full monumental areas and memorial gardens.

ACCA and CCAWA
The CEO of the MCB, Peter Deague, was elected 
President of the Australasian Cemeteries and 
Crematoria Association (ACCA) in October 2016 
at the national conference held in Perth. Pinnaroo 
Valley Memorial Park hosted the interactive 
displays and demonstrations of new machinery 
specifically designed for gravedigging and also 
the new cremators. This innovative day will be 
repeated at the 2017 national conference in 
Melbourne. The MCB, a founding member of 
ACCA, has been recognised as a leader in the 
professional development of cemeteries and 
crematoria in Australia.

The Chair and the CEO also participated in 
the National Crown Cemeteries forum, which 
addresses operations, planning and legislation 
of public cemeteries and concerns for future 
availability of land, cost containment and 
disruptions to the industry.

The Cemeteries and Crematoria Association 
of Western Australia is strongly supported by 
the MCB. The annual meeting brings together 
members of the MCB, regional boards and local 
councils and has been the catalyst for sharing 
information and support on both operational 
and legislative issues facing cemetery managers 
across the state. 

FROM THE CHAIR

Memorial wall within the renewed burial section at Karrakatta
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It provides a forum for guest speakers to discuss 
such issues such as the Acts that affect daily 
operations, for example, the Anatomy Act 1930 
(WA), the role of the Registrar of Births, Marriages 
and Deaths and the importance of detailed 
records, and the Department of Health, which is 
responsible for the Cremation Act 1929 (WA).

Fremantle Cemetery
It is pleasing to report that after considerable 
delays in construction, the Fremantle café, waiting 
house and cortege routes have been completed. 
The new entrance for the funeral hearse and 
coaches from Sainsbury Road means mourners 
no longer have the long walk from the original 
Carrington Street entrance. The waiting house 
provides shelter throughout the year and access 
to the chapels. The new café provides excellent 
amenities for the public and for families following a 
service, and also food for the Fremantle, Karrakatta 
and Pinnaroo cafés.

Celeste Catering specialises in after-funeral catering
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Rockingham Regional Memorial Park
The Board regularly makes on-site visits to our 
six cemeteries. In May the Board visited the 
Rockingham Regional Memorial Park (RRMP) 
to inspect the new crematorium, due to open 
for cremation services later in 2017. This new 
crematorium will serve the community in the  
south-west region and will ease the necessity to 
travel to Fremantle. Since opening in 2007, the 
native plant landscaping is now maturing to make 
this cemetery a very pleasant natural environment 
for burial and eventually memorial gardens for 
ashes.

The Board acknowledges the CEO Peter Deague, 
Directors Dominique Mecoy and Tim Halls, and 
Director Finance/Chief Finance Officer Joseph 
Fortuna, and thanks them for their excellent and 
professional work for the Board during this year. 
Their expertise and advice to the Board is essential 
in order to make the best possible decisions for 
the cemeteries and the community we serve.

I wish to thank all Board members for their 
commitment to the MCB during this year. The 
Board’s review of the Strategic Plan 2012–2017 
completed this year was the culmination of the 
commitment and understanding of the MCB 
values—compassion, respect, understanding 
and integrity. We are responsible for delivering 
excellent service and quality cemetery facilities 
to the community. We take seriously our 
fiscal responsibility, increasingly complex and 
demanding, in order to provide the best possible 
service to the public.

I submit this Annual Report of the MCB for 
consideration.

Dr Leonie Liveris 
Chair

Memorial gardens at Rockingham Regional Memorial Park
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The Metropolitan Cemeteries Board 
(MCB) is a fully self-funded State 
Government statutory authority 
appointed by and responsible to the 
Minister for Local Government; 
Heritage; Culture and the Arts. 
Revenue raised from the fees charged 
for various products and services is 
allocated for the provision of future 
services and for maintenance.

ACTS AND BY-LAWS
The MCB is legislated by the following Acts and 
by-laws:
• Cemeteries Act 1986 (WA)
• Cremation Act 1929 (WA)
• Cremation Regulations 1954 (WA)
• Metropolitan Cemeteries Board By-law 1992 

(WA).

In the performance of its functions, the MCB has 
complied with the following laws:
• Auditor General Act 2006 (WA)
• Building Act 2011 (WA)
• Cemeteries Act 1986 (WA)
• Corporations (Western Australia) Act 1990 (WA)
• Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003 

(WA)
• Cremation Act 1929 (WA)
• Disability Services Act 1993 (WA)
• Equal Opportunity Act 1984 (WA)
• Financial Management Act 2006 (WA)
• Freedom of Information Act 1992 (WA)
• Industrial Relations Act 1979 (WA)
• Legal Deposit Act 2012 (WA)
• Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951 

(WA)
• Metropolitan Cemeteries Board By-law 1992 

(WA)

• Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993 
(WA)

• Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 (WA)
• Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972 (WA)
• Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 (WA)
• Public Sector Management Act 1994 (WA)
• Salaries and Allowance Act 1975 (WA)
• State Records Act 2000 (WA)
• State Superannuation Act 2000 (WA)
• State Supply Commission Act 1991 (WA)
• Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) 

Act 1996 (WA)
• Workers’ Compensation and Injury 

Management Act 1981 (WA)
• Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management 

Regulations 1982 (WA)
• Workers’ Compensation Code of Practice 

(Injury Management) 2005 (WA)
• Workers’ Compensation (Common Law 

Proceedings) Act 2004 (WA)
• Workplace Relations Act 1996 (Cth).

OPERATIONAL STRUCTURE
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Reporting to the Minister for Local Government, 
the Hon. David Templeman MLA, the Board 
comprises the Chair and six members. Board 
membership remained constant during the year.

The Board met six times in 2016/17 with a focus 
on setting strategic and policy direction. The 
Committee for Finance, Audit and Risk, a sub-
committee of the Board, deals with issues relating 
to financial, audit and risk-related matters. Board 
members also attended site inspections and other 
functions throughout the year.

Dr Leonie Liveris is an Adjunct Senior Research 
Fellow at Curtin University. She is an independent 
consultant historian for the renewal and heritage of 
cemeteries and the Chairperson of the Monument 
Assessment and Advisory Committee. She has 
presented papers at national and international 
conferences on cemetery renewal. She has served 
on various state and national government boards 
and committees including multicultural affairs, 
hospital boards and the sexual assault advisory 
committee.

She is the author of The Dismal Trader, Memories 
Eternal—100 Years of Karrakatta Cemetery 
and Monuments and Masons. Dr Liveris was 
a consultant for the International Orthodox 
Women’s Network (Geneva), an invited keynote 
speaker at various conferences and has numerous 
publications in this area of research. She holds a 
Bachelor of Arts (Hons), Master of Philosophy and 
Doctor of Philosophy in History.

Joe O’Dea Jnr has a long association with the 
funeral industry in Western Australia. He has been 
managing director of the Bowra and O’Dea group 
of companies since 1985. He was President of the 
Australian Funeral Directors Association, Western 
Australian division from 1984 to 1990 and served 
as National Councillor for much of that time. Joe 
is also a member of the Board’s Committee for 
Finance, Audit and Risk and has represented the 
MCB on many delegations.

BOARD MEMBERS

CHAIR

Dr Leonie Liveris
6 of 6 meetings

DEPUTY CHAIR

Mr Joe O’Dea Jnr
6 of 6 meetings
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Darrell Jones has many years’ professional 
experience in finance, marketing, economics and 
strategic planning across private and government 
sectors, including economic regulation, power 
utilities, banking and telecommunications. He 
is also a board member of Perth NRM (where 
he chairs the Finance Committee) and a board 
member of Mundaring Arts Centre. He was a 
Councillor at the Shire of Mundaring for six years, 
two as Deputy Shire President, where his duties 
included Chair of the Audit and Governance 
Committee. Darrell has taught actuarial economics 
at Curtin University and currently assists with 
teaching corporate governance and strategy. 
Darrell holds a Bachelor of Economics, a Graduate 
Diploma in Applied Finance & Investment, and 
a Graduate Certificate in Marketing. He is a 
Graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors.

Tony Evans has extensive commercial and 
corporate governance experience as a senior 
executive in the resources, property, education 
and not-for-profit sectors. He has served as a 
member and chair of a number of boards including 
the Joint Accreditation System of Australia and 
New Zealand, the Royal Automobile Club of WA, 
Swan River Trust, Perth Primary Care Network 
Limited and Challenger TAFE. Tony holds a 
Bachelor of Business and a Diploma in Education 
from the University of Western Australia. He is a 
Fellow of CPA Australia, the Institute of Chartered 
Company Secretaries and the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors.

Brenda Robbins practices as a barrister at  
Sir Clifford Grant Chambers in a variety of areas 
of law. Prior to her legal career she held a number 
of senior executive positions, including as CEO, 
in the State Government. She has served on 
numerous boards and committees including the 
Senate of the University of Western Australia, the 
Legal Aid Commission and the Australian Institute 
of Management, including a term as President. 
She was a Director of the government-owned 
financial services provider Keystart Loans Ltd for 
nine years to end April 2017 and is a Trustee of the 
Scholarships Trusts of Graduate Women WA Inc.

Mr Darrell Jones
6 of 6 meetings

Mr Anthony (Tony) 
Evans
6 of 6 meetings

Ms Brenda Robbins
5 of 6 meetings
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Ricki Smith has almost 20 years of experience 
in sales, marketing public relations and strategic 
planning and is currently CEO of Access Care 
Network Australia, a subsidiary of the Silver Chain 
Group, Western Australia’s largest community-
based health and aged care provider. She has 
been on the boards of a number of companies 
including the Black Swan Theatre Company, the 
Energy Industry Ombudsman of Western Australia, 
United Way Western Australia and United Way 
Australia, and the Murdoch University Veterinary 
Hospital. She is a Fellow of the Australian Institute 
of Company Directors.

Don Whittington has been a member of the MCB 
since 2003 and prior to that was a member of 
the Fremantle Cemetery Board. He is a member 
of the Board’s Committee for Finance, Audit and 
Risk and represents the Board on the Monument 
Assessment and Advisory Committee. He 
presented papers on natural burial at the 2006 
and 2011 Australasian Cemeteries and Crematoria 
Association Conferences. He also presented a 
paper at the Association’s 2014 Conference on 
the heritage tours that he regularly conducts in 
Fremantle Cemetery. Don was a Councillor of 
the City of Fremantle for nine years, including 
three years as Deputy Mayor and six years as 
Chairperson of Planning and Development.

Board Remuneration
Board members received an annual fee of $7,035 
while the Chair, in recognition of the additional 
time required to fulfil Board business requirements, 
received a payment of $14,070.

Declarations of Interest
Board members have disclosed all perceived, 
potential or actual conflicts of interests as required.

Mr Donald (Don) 
Whittington
5 of 6 meetings

Dr Renate (Ricki) 
Smith
5 of 6 meetings
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ORGANISATION CHART

Left to right: Dominique Mecoy, Tim Halls, Peter Deague and 
Joseph Fortuna

MINISTER

BOARD

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
Peter Deague

DIRECTOR PLANNING  
AND OPERATIONS 

 Tim Halls

OFFICE OF THE CEO   
Manager HR, CIO, Governance 

Officer, Executive Support

DIRECTOR CLIENT SERVICES  
Dominique Mecoy

COMMITTEE FOR FINANCE,  
AUDIT AND RISK

DIRECTOR FINANCE 
Joseph Fortuna
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The Client Services directorate manages the 
public interface of the MCB and is responsible 
for the development and implementation of 
appropriate products and services relating to 
funerals and commemoration. Client Services staff 
develop and maintain close working relationships 
with key stakeholders including funeral directors, 
clergy, civil celebrants, community groups and 
other government departments. These efforts 
help ensure that products, services and programs 
meet community needs, and that media and public 
relations are effectively managed.

The Planning and Operations directorate is 
responsible for infrastructure, including buildings, 
security, insurance, fleet and machinery, roads and 
pavements. It undertakes the project management 
of capital and minor works at all sites. The team 
also manages burials, cremations and mausoleum 
entombments. This includes overseeing the service 
standards in the chapels and condolence lounges, 
crematoria and mausoleums, and the work done by 
monumental masons.

In addition, the directorate handles the planning 
and development of rose and landscaped gardens 
and lawns as well as the general environment of 
all the MCB sites. Many of the staff are qualified 
horticulturists and take pride in maintaining the 
cemeteries to a high standard for the pleasure and 
comfort of visitors.

The Finance directorate is responsible for the 
provision of financial services and support to 
the MCB, which enables the organisation to 
provide critical service and program delivery 
to the community. Financial services include 
financial planning, budget management, financial 
reporting, transactional accounting, investments 
and cash management, auditing, risk management, 
procurement and contract management.

The Finance staff maintain a high level of support 
and service by managing relationships with 
stakeholders, in particular clients and suppliers, 
by maintaining the financial enterprise system, 
and by adopting new business processes and 
improvements.

Through the Office of the Chief Executive 
Officer, the Manager Human Resources, the Chief 
Information Officer and the Corporate Governance 
Officer provide service support in the areas of 
human resources, information and communications 
technology, knowledge management and 
corporate governance.

Staff in the Executive area liaise with the Minister’s 
Office and manage support services to the 
Chief Executive Officer, the Board and its sub-
committees and other strategic partners.

The MCB had 153.5 full-time equivalent staff 
during 2016/17.

Ashes placement ceremony at Pinnaroo Valley
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Outcome-Based Management
The MCB’s outcome-based management structure 
did not change during 2016/17.

Relationship to Government Goals
The MCB Strategic Plan 2012–2017 identifies 
key directions for the organisation. It sets out a 
clear strategic focus, recognising the need to 
respond to a changing industry environment with a 
fresh and innovative approach to service delivery. 
The MCB reviewed the strategic plan in order to 
consider any matters that had not been addressed, 
fine-tune certain aspects of the plan and consider 
any changes to the whole-of-government strategic 
direction required by agencies.

The State Government goals are supported at 
agency level by more specific outcomes. The 
strategic outcomes identified by the MCB are:
1. Excelling in customer service.
2. Building and expanding our people capability.
3. Planning for business sustainability.
4. Influencing and shaping our environment.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK

The table below illustrates the relationship between the MCB’s strategic plan, its desired outcomes and 
linkage with State Government goals. More specific achievements are detailed in the Agency Performance 
section of this report.

State Government Goal
MCB Desired Strategic 
Outcome MCB Services

Results-based service 
delivery 
Greater focus on achieving 
results in key service delivery 
areas for the benefit of all 
Western Australians

1.  Excelling in customer 
service

3.  Planning for 
business 
sustainability

• Maintained a consistently high level of 
customer satisfaction with products and 
services

• Managed effective client and 
stakeholder relationships

• Planned for future operational 
sustainability

Financial and economic 
responsibility 
Responsibly managing the 
State’s finances through the 
efficient and effective delivery 
of services, encouraging 
economic activity and reducing 
regulatory burdens on the 
private sector

3.  Planning for 
business 
sustainability

• Promoted policies and a system of 
values and risk management to meet 
legal, financial and ethical obligations

• Maintained sound financial 
management practices that balanced 
core responsibilities and business 
sustainability

• From October 2016 to April 2017 the 
CEO was President of the Australasian 
Cemeteries & Crematoria Association, 
an industry Association that provides 
professional advice and assistance to 
the cemeteries and crematoria industry
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State Government Goal

MCB Desired 
Strategic 
Outcome MCB Services

Social and 
environmental 
responsibility 
Ensuring that 
economic activity is 
managed in a socially 
and environmentally 
responsible manner 
for the long-term 
benefit of the State

3.  Planning for 
business 
sustainability

4. Influencing 
and 
shaping our 
environment

• Integrated sustainability 
principles for delivery of  
key services

• Ongoing development 
of sustainable financial 
capability models

• Maintained two-way 
stakeholder mechanisms 
to provide and promote 
knowledge and information 
dissemination

Stronger focus  
on the regions 
Greater focus on 
service delivery, 
infrastructure 
investment 
and economic 
development to 
improve the overall 
quality of life in remote 
and regional areas

1. Excelling in 
customer 
service

4.  Influencing 
and 
shaping our 
environment

• Provided extensive advisory 
and consultative services 
to country cemetery boards 
and local governments 
including human resources 
support

• Occupied key positions on 
the Board of the Cemeteries 
and Crematoria Association 
of WA

State Government Goal

MCB Desired 
Strategic 
Outcome MCB Services

State building— 
major projects 
Building strategic 
infrastructure that 
will create jobs and 
underpin Western 
Australia’s long-
term economic 
development

2.  Building and 
expanding 
our people 
capability

3.  Planning for 
business 
sustainability

• Constructed and maintained 
facilities across six cemetery 
locations in metropolitan 
Perth

• Created employment 
through infrastructure 
development resulting in 
ongoing employment as part 
of cemetery management

• Negotiated with the 
Department of Planning to 
ensure a supply of cemetery 
land so that community 
need can be met in the 
future

Shared Responsibilities
Senior MCB staff met regularly with senior representatives of the Department 
of Health to discuss opportunities to improve the administrative and safety 
requirements around cremations. These meetings sought to minimise the 
regulatory burden on the industry while maintaining high legislative standards.

MCB staff worked closely with the Western Australian Police in order to 
mitigate the incidence of crime and antisocial behaviour.
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AGENCY PERFORMANCE
OUTCOME ONE: 
Excelling in 
Customer Service

Excelling in customer service is 
a primary goal of the MCB—a 
customer driven organisation, 
constantly striving to deliver value  
to the community.
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Services Provided
The level of satisfaction with the MCB’s services 
has remained universally high, with a community 
rating of 95.6%, as measured through the annual 
customer satisfaction survey. This continues to 
be an extraordinarily high overall approval rating. 
This result can be attributed to all the MCB 
staff working together to understand and meet 
customer expectations, whether in the office, on 
the telephone, online or out in the grounds.

During the year, 11,921 cremations, burials and 
mausoleum entombments were performed at 
the six cemeteries under MCB management, 
an increase of 3.7% from 2015/16. In addition 
to these core services, staff assisted families in 
the provision of 601 burial plaques and 2,714 
cremation memorials.

Community Participation
Connecting with history
In October 2015, the MCB collaborated with 
the US Consul in Perth to commemorate the 
placement of two plaques in the US Servicemen’s 
Gazebo at Karrakatta Cemetery. This placement 
reinforced the MCB’s commitment to appropriate 
acknowledgement of service personnel and 
also ensured that the US Servicemen’s Gazebo 
continues to be utilised in alignment with its 
original purpose.

In May 2017, surviving family, US Consul Joshua 
Finch and US Navy members stationed at HMAS 
Stirling gathered to unveil a memorial plaque for 
Morgan Howard Lea, a US Navy veteran of World 
War II and resident of Western Australia.

The MCB continued to work with the Honouring 
Indigenous War Graves Association, a Western 
Australian program providing memorial plaques or 
grave headstones for graves of Aboriginal soldiers 
who fought in the first and second world wars. In 
May, MCB staff finalised a policy so as to ensure 
that families seeking to commemorate the graves 
of Aboriginal soldiers had a clear process through 
which this could be achieved. To complement 
this, all eligible graves of Aboriginal soldiers will 
be retained in-situ in areas where the Karrakatta 
Cemetery Renewal program may have an impact.

Catering for a diverse community
The MCB continues to be respectful of the needs 
and the requirement to cater for the needs of 
the diverse Perth community. MCB staff have an 
ongoing dialogue with representatives of different 
ethnic and religious communities.

During the year MCB staff continued discussions 
with the Greek community regarding erection of a 
small chapel and ossuary in the Orthodox section 
at Karrakatta and are currently liaising to determine 
an appropriate location for the facility.

Maintaining high standards at Fremantle Mausoleum
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Events to Celebrate, Honour and Engage with 
our Communities
The MCB continued to deliver a suite of community 
engagement events, including the traditional annual 
masses to commemorate Easter Sunday and All 
Souls Day at Karrakatta Mausoleum. These are 
large-scale spiritual events and, as is customary, 
continued to attract over 700 community members 
to each mass.

The Feast of the Annunciation Rosary was held 
at the Fremantle Mausoleum and was attended 
by over 350 people. The event has become an 
important tradition on the spiritual calendar for the 
Fremantle community.

Three years ago, MCB staff were approached 
by members of the Kingsley Anglican parish to 
discuss the likelihood of staging an outside dawn 
service to commemorate Easter Sunday. This 
year saw the third service staged at PVMP with 
the number of attendees increasing each time 
the service is held. The gathering is becoming an 
important spiritual occasion for all of those who 
attend and the MCB looks forward to welcoming 
this community back to PVMP in the future.

The MCB continues to play a role in the City of 
Fremantle’s annual Heritage Festival. Long-serving 
Board member Don Whittington has hosted the 
tour for many years and in 2017 was joined by 
actor James Hagan who assumed a number of 
characters as tour participants were guided along 
the Heritage Trail. This annual community event 
is complemented by the self-guided Historical 
Walk Trails at both Fremantle and Karrakatta, 
representing the important role the MCB has as a 
custodian of social history.

The MCB continued to host school and community 
group visits to the cemeteries as part of its 
ongoing commitment to community education. 
Visitors were able to learn first-hand about the 
cemetery environment from historical, operational 
and commemorative perspectives.

As part of its commitment to the broader 
cemeteries industry, MCB staff hosted delegates 
attending the Australian Cemetery and Crematoria 
Association’s (ACCA) annual conference at 
a field day held at PVMP in September 2016. 
With representatives from interstate and 
regional Western Australian cemeteries, the day 
included a series of tours and practical hands-on 
demonstrations of new industry innovations.

The MCB continued to participate in the cross-
government working group, the Western Australian 
Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Across-
Government Network (WACAN). This keeps 
the MCB abreast of current cultural diversity 
considerations as it services the community.

Product Development
To ensure that customer expectations continue to 
be met with regard to cremation memorial options, 
the range of memorials offered by the MCB is 
constantly reviewed and subject to continuous 
improvement. During 2016/17, works were 
undertaken to enhance the aesthetic of Sainsbury 
Gardens at Fremantle Cemetery with the installation 
of a new water feature. 

Over 2,700 memorial plaques were placed in 2016/17
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At RRMP, a new range of memorial options were 
made available in Batavia Gardens, a response to 
the increasing utilisation of the park as a location 
for the commemoration of loved ones by members 
of the local community. At Karrakatta, Midland, 
Guildford and PVMP, a range of works were 
undertaken to enhance existing memorial gardens 
to accommodate new cremation memorials. Many 
families express a strong desire to establish a new 
cremation memorial within the older gardens so as to 
commemorate family members within close proximity 
to other family members; refurbishment works enable 
this but also enhance the overall aesthetic within 
many of the older garden environments.

Victoria Cross War Graves Pending Heritage 
Listing
In April 2017, the Minister’s office released a 
media statement advising that all Victoria Cross 
war graves are to be heritage listed by Anzac Day 
2018, marking the 100th anniversary of the end of 
World War I.

The Victoria Cross (VC) is the highest award an 
officer of the armed services can receive, and is 
awarded for bravery or extreme devotion to duty in 
the presence of the enemy.

The heritage listing will require identification of 
the graves, research into the individual stories, 
land surveys, and communication with various 
stakeholders, including the Returned Services 
League and family members.

The protection of war graves belonging to our 
soldiers is both fitting and appropriate. Not only 
will the graves be protected for the future, but 
the individual stories of the VC recipients will be 
uncovered and shared with the community.

The MCB has for many years been working closely 
with the Office of Australian War Graves to ensure 
that war graves are identified and protected. The 
State Manager of the Office of Australian War 
Graves is a member of the MCB’s Monument 
Assessment and Advisory Committee, which 
ensures that all identified war graves are retained 
when undertaking cemetery renewal projects.

Cemetery Security
The MCB has continued with the development of 
a fully integrated fire and security management 
system, which will also include the new RRMP 
crematorium and office complex. The security 
management system enables fast communication 
of emergencies and improves the MCB’s 
emergency management team’s response and alert 
verification times.

There has been an overall reduction in the reported 
security related incidents throughout all sites this 
year. The most significant reduction has been at 
Karrakatta, where the number of reported vehicle 
break-ins in the Railway Road cemetery car park 
has reduced by 78%.

CCTV and additional security signage were 
installed in late 2016 and the City of Nedlands 
ranger patrols commenced in April 2017 as part  
of the new strategy for car park management.  
It is expected that these measures will continue 
to discourage incidents from occurring in this 
area. This approach has been replicated at other 
cemetery car parks with similar results being 
reported.

Closed Circuit Television (CCTV)
The MCB has implemented a centrally managed 
network video management system (NVMS) that 
covers all six cemeteries. The additional CCTV 
infrastructure at RRMP has also been recently 
added to the NVMS. Live video can be viewed for 
operational purposes with all footage recorded 
24 hours a day, seven days a week as a potential 
aid in the investigation and follow up of criminal or 
antisocial activities. The highly visible CCTV and 
security signage is being used to deter undesirable 
behaviour and enhance the public’s safety.
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The MCB has recently updated the Police Blue 
Iris CCTV database with new camera details. 
This information is used by police to determine if 
footage is required from the MCB NVMS as part of 
police investigations. This system and the MCB’s 
NVMS have been used by police at both the 
Midland Cemetery and at PVMP for security and 
criminal incidents outside MCB property.

Jewish Prayer Hall Proposed for Guildford 
Cemetery
During the year the Board approved the concept 
plans and Memorandum of Agreement for 
the Guildford Cemetery Jewish Prayer Hall. 
Additionally the Perth Chevra Kadisha’s architect 
sought and obtained Department of Planning 
approval to begin development. The architect is 
progressing with the working drawings.

Railway Road Parking
The MCB has entered into a Memorandum of 
Understanding with the City of Nedlands to reduce 
the use of the Railway Road car park by people 
not visiting the cemetery. Commuters and other 
members of the public using Transperth trains 
had been parking in the cemetery car park to the 
exclusion of visitors to Karrakatta Cemetery.

Following liaison with City of Nedlands an 
integrated parking strategy was developed that 
now ensures sufficient parking is available for 
cemetery patrons.

Karrakatta Mausoleum Stage 7
The Mausoleum at Karrakatta has always been 
popular with the Italian community as a final resting 
place for their loved ones. The MCB has now 
engaged its architects to plan and design Stage 7 
of the Karrakatta Mausoleum. The design includes 
eco-friendly green walls, an indoor chapel, an 
outdoor pavilion and will provide for 928 crypts. 
The design is intended to link back to the existing 
stages of the mausoleum though the use of 
sympathetic materials such as paving, granite crypt 
facings and terracotta roof tiles. It is expected 
that construction will commence in 2017 and be 
completed in 2019.

Fremantle Mausoleum Upgrade and Repairs
The MCB has been trying to rectify design and 
construction issues at the Fremantle Mausoleum 
in an ad hoc manner for many years. While this 
has addressed some issues in the short term, it 
has not resolved the underlying issues. This year 
it was determined that for the safety and comfort 
of families a major coordinated repair and upgrade 
program was required.

The MCB appointed a builder to undertake 
immediate repair works to the Fremantle 
Mausoleum, including the removal and testing of 
glass panels, the installation of mechanical fixings 
for loose tiling, and the installation of a plywood 
umbrella beneath the glazed roofing.

This has addressed the immediate safety issues 
and will form the basis for more significant works 
to be undertaken in 2017/18. As with all projects, 
the work was scheduled in such a manner as to 
cause minimum disturbance to families.

Fremantle Mausoleum
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OUTCOME TWO: 
Building and 
Expanding our 
People Capability

Building and expanding the MCB’s 
people capability enables the MCB 
to achieve its strategic objectives.
Key strategies in achieving this outcome 
include:
• Building capability through ongoing training 

and development.
• Building relationships at all levels through 

the appropriate behaviours that demonstrate 
integrity, trust, respect and compassion.

• Building a diverse workforce that is reflective 
of our community.

• Ensuring appropriate systems and 
technology are in place for workflows and 
automation in human resources and finance.
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Leadership Development Plan
The MCB continued to develop its leadership 
capability with the delivery of the following training:
• Certificate IV in Leadership and Management—

for frontline managers.
• Accountable and Ethical Decision Making—for 

all employees and Board members.
• Mental Health in the Workplace—to raise 

awareness of how mental health issues can be 
better managed.

• Overcoming Unconscious Bias—to improve the 
application of equal opportunity in all aspects of 
work.

• Valuing Our People Through Performance 
Management—training supervisors in managing 
difficult conversations with employees about 
their performance.

Funeral Services Training
The funeral services training program for cremation 
and burial employees planned for this year was 
deferred until 2017/18. Places on the program are 
also being offered to regional cemetery employees.

Other Training Programs
• Corporate Inductions
• Occupational Safety and Health for Supervisors
• First Aid and CPR for First Aid Officers
• Selection and recruitment training for new 

recruitment panel members
• Manual handling training
• Plant and equipment training.

Youth Employment Strategy
The MCB participated in the Western Australian 
Public Sector school-based traineeship program 
in 2016, taking on a school-based trainee. The 
trainee worked at the MCB for two days a week 
to gain valuable work experience across various 
administrative areas to complement his Certificate 
II in Government training program.

Due to his excellent work performance, the MCB 
also gave him a short-term contract of employment 
during the school holidays.

Our trainee successfully graduated Year 12 and 
his school-based traineeship in October 2016, and 
was the proud recipient of two prestigious awards:
1. ‘VET Endeavour Award’ for high achievement 

(highest marks) in the VET course (Certificate II 
in Government).

2. ‘Excellence Award’ (Students predicted to be 
the most successful. The other recipient of this 
award was the Dux of Year 12).

On completion of the school-based traineeship, 
the graduate trainee was offered another short-
term contract of employment with the MCB as he 
transitioned from the school-based traineeship 
to the Public Sector Commission’s Youth 
Traineeship Certificate III in Government, which 
started in February 2017. He is now successfully 
continuing his studies and traineeship with the 
support of the MCB.
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Aboriginal Employment Strategy
The MCB also participates in the Public Sector 
Commission’s Aboriginal Traineeship Program to 
increase the workforce participation of Aboriginal 
people.

Upon the successful completion of the MCB 
Aboriginal trainee’s public administration 
traineeship in 2016, the MCB continued to support 
her with a 12-month transition with a view to 
permanent contract of employment.

The Aboriginal trainee graduate is now a 
successful applicant for a Client Liaison Officer 
role, and is in the pool for the next available 
vacancy.

Due to the success of this experience, the MCB 
has offered to host a new Aboriginal trainee 
through the Aboriginal Traineeship Program  
for 2017/18.

The MCB has again exceeded its Aboriginal 
employment target of 2.77% representation in the 
workforce, achieving an end of year outcome of 
3.27%.

Apprenticeships
The MCB is committed to building and expanding 
people capacity through apprenticeship 
opportunities. This year the MCB had three 
apprentices studying Certificate III in Horticulture 
(Parks and Gardens), one at each of the three 
main sites of Fremantle, Karrakatta and PVMP.

The apprenticeship program assists the 
apprentices with on-the-job training to complement 
their apprenticeship studies. At the end of 
their apprenticeship, they can apply through a 
recruitment process for full-time employment with 
the MCB.

This has been a successful strategy with two of 
our previous apprentices having worked their way 
up to being successful Team Leaders.

Study Assistance
The MCB also continues to build and expand 
people capacity this year by supporting two grounds 
employees and four administration employees to 
further their studies and qualifications in horticulture, 
marketing, accounting and human resources.

Reward and Recognition
The Staff Reward and Recognition program has 
been reviewed and updated to acknowledge, 
recognise and reward outstanding performance of 
employees. Nominations are invited quarterly for 
outstanding performance of individual employees 
and teams of employees under the categories 
of excellence in Leadership, Customer Service, 
Performance, Innovation, Teamwork and/or 
Integrity. If also supported by Corporate Executive 
and endorsed by the CEO, the outstanding 
performance of these employees is acknowledged, 
recognised and rewarded in a ceremony where 
they receive a certificate of recognition from the 
CEO and a token gift certificate.

Human Resource Management Information 
System—Timefiler
A major focus of the Human Resource branch this 
reporting period was the implementation of a new 
Timefiler system, which is the time and attendance 
module of the new Human Resource Management 
Information System (HRMIS).

Keeping memorial gardens looking their best
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Extensive planning, scoping and testing was 
undertaken to ensure the business rules aligned to 
the applicable Award and Industrial Agreements. 
Comprehensive testing and parallel runs were 
undertaken to assist staff in learning the new 
system and to test the transfer of timesheet and 
overtime data to the payroll system.

Human Resources staff provided training to all 
staff on how to use the new Timefiler system 
across all sites, facilitating a very smooth ‘go-live’ 
in January 2017.

There is now better control, transparency 
and accountability in employees’ timekeeping 
practices.

Work also commenced on the planning and 
development of the next three HRMIS modules to 
be implemented, Occupational Safety and Health 
Incident Reporting, Learning and Development, 
and Performance Management.

Staff Accolades
In November 2016, Leadership WA presented 
two of Western Australia’s highest calibre 
leaders its most prestigious leadership honours 
at the organisation’s flagship Signature Program 
graduation ceremony.

Dominique Mecoy, Director Client Services and 
Leadership WA alumna took out the Distinguished 
Fellow Award for 2016.

The awards acknowledge leaders who have 
shown exceptional levels of leadership, community 
contribution and support for Leadership WA 
initiatives.

METROPOLITAN CEMETERIES BOARD  | ANNUAL REPORT 2016-201726  



OUTCOME THREE: 
Planning for 
Business 
Sustainability

Efficient and effective resource 
management that is responsive  
to our current and changing 
operational needs.
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Industry and Stakeholders
Under the provisions of the Cemeteries Act 1986 
(WA), 25 funeral directors were licensed to operate 
within cemeteries controlled by the MCB and 12 
monumental masons were licensed by the MCB.

MCB staff continued to offer free training 
workshops for funeral directors and celebrants 
to provide these important stakeholders with 
an enhanced understanding of legislative and 
operational requirements. Topics generally include 
interpretation of legislation and administrative 
requirements, use of the audio-visual systems and 
occupational safety and health matters.

As a key focus area for the 2016/2017 period, the 
MCB provided three workshops for funeral directors 
regarding the importance of submitting thorough 
and robust paperwork when making funeral 
arrangements. With over 160 funeral directors and 
staff attending, feedback has been excellent, with 
an indication that funeral director staff are now more 
aware of the legal requirements and the importance 
of submitting timely and complete documentation.

The MCB’s funeral director training is 
acknowledged as part of the Australian Funeral 
Directors Association’s (AFDA) continuing 
professional development program.

The MCB holds regular meetings with AFDA to 
discuss and resolve occupational safety, health and 
administrative issues, and explore opportunities to 
ensure a high level of services to families.

As the largest authority responsible for the 
management of cemeteries in Western Australia, 
the MCB continues to provide guidance to other 
local governments and cemetery boards across 
the state on the interpretation of legislation and on 
policy and procedural issues relating to cemetery 
management and operations. While it is not the 
MCB’s direct responsibility to provide this support, 
the MCB is pleased to give this assistance free of 
charge to regional cemeteries.

MCB staff maintain ongoing and collaborative 
relationships with key government stakeholders 
such as the Department of Health, Office of the 
State Coroner, Department for Child Protection 
and Family Support, Office of Multicultural 
Interests, Department of Finance and Department 
of Treasury. This enables the MCB to improve 
services to the community, particularly on cross-
jurisdictional matters, and on compliance with 
government requirements.

Capital Works
The MCB has started converting its computer-
aided drawings and data recording systems to a 
Geographic Information System to enhance the 
accuracy of plans and maps and to improve the 
data retrieval system.

This system will be enhanced in the near future as 
part of a centralised and mobile spatial information 
system to identify grave and memorial locations at 
all MCB sites. This is in addition to maintaining a 
spatial database of the MCB’s land, infrastructure, 
buildings and services necessary to effectively 
manage and maintain the MCB’s assets and 
infrastructure.

During 2016/17 several roads and pathways 
were upgraded at both Karrakatta and Midland. 
These works have ensured that both vehicle and 
pedestrian access is available to the new and 
renewed burial and memorial areas at these sites 
and that several identified safety hazards and 
drainage issues were rectified.

Cemetery mapping, a complex and detailed task
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As part of the annual fleet and plant maintenance 
and replacement program, significant cremator 
works were carried out at Karrakatta, PVMP 
and Fremantle. The works were scheduled and 
coordinated to minimise inconvenience to the 
public. Major cremator maintenance is undertaken 
to extend the life of the cremators, which are 
amongst the MCB’s most expensive and essential 
assets.

Cemetery Renewal
Division 4 of the Cemeteries Act 1986 (WA) 
permits the MCB to undertake redevelopment of 
sections of cemeteries for re-use for any of the 
purposes authorised under the Act. This process is 
managed under the cemetery renewal program.

Cemetery renewal is a long-term approach 
to ensure viability and sustainability of the 
MCB’s cemeteries for future generations. It is 
also a strategy to meet the needs of the Perth 
metropolitan area’s long-term projected burial and 
memorial requirements. Cemetery renewal involves 
redeveloping existing burial land to accommodate 
new burial plots and memorial gardens. New burial 
plots are placed in the pathways between the old 
graves so that no remains in existing graves are 
disturbed.

The program is very important for Karrakatta as it 
ensures the finite resources of this cemetery are 
available to meet future community requirements 
for burial land. For many years the MCB has 
worked with the community to assist them in 
gaining a greater understanding and appreciation 
of the renewal program. The consultative approach 
employed by the MCB has ensured a general 
community acceptance of cemetery renewal by 
people who are affected by the process. MCB 
staff work closely with families to ensure that 
their needs are met before, during and after 
implementation. This approach has resulted in the 
ongoing success of the program.

In 2016/17 redevelopment of the burial section 
Anglican VC commenced. Monuments were 
removed from existing graves and relocated into 
garden beds to create nearly 200 Pinnaroo-
style lawn graves. Planning is underway on the 
construction of a memorial niche wall in a design 
to complement the existing niche wall. Once 
completed the wall and surrounding gardens will 
provide over 500 memorial positions.

Following a 12-month public consultation process, 
permission was obtained from the Minister 
to commence renewal in the burial section 
Congregational BA. It is anticipated that the 
redevelopment of this section will commence in 
October 2017 to create a new lawn burial area. 

Jarrah Walk at Midland Cemetery
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Rockingham Regional Memorial Park 
Crematorium
The construction of the RRMP crematorium has 
been progressed throughout the year.

The cremators and charge bier were manufactured 
in England by a world leader in the manufacture of 
cremators and loaded onto a shipping container for 
the voyage to Perth. The crematorium project will 
be completed in 2017 once commissioning and 
training have been undertaken.

Norfolk Chapel Refurbishment
The MCB successfully completed the second 
stage of the refurbishment of the Norfolk Chapel at 
Karrakatta Cemetery.

The scope of the project incorporated improved 
acoustics as a result of the installation of a new 
ceiling and speaker system, a larger catafalque to 
accommodate oversize coffins, a new lectern for 
presenters, new carpet, and energy efficient air 
conditioning and lighting.

The works have provided a greatly improved facility 
for families to use and feedback from visitors on 
the refurbished chapel has been very positive. The 
MCB is working towards an improved audio-visual 
system in 2017/18 to enhance system functionality 
and usability.

Business Systems Review
As the primary business system run by the 
organisation, a review of the Cemeteries Record 
System commenced during the review period. The 
current system has been in operation since 2005 
and is coming to the end of its serviceable life. 
As the system responsible for housing all burial 
and cremation records, it also incorporates the 
bookings platform for all funerals and the registers 
of available burial and memorial locations. MCB 
staff envisage that significant steps towards an 
upgrade of the existing system will occur in the 
forthcoming period.
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OUTCOME FOUR: 
Influencing and 
Shaping our 
Environment

The MCB has effective systems 
and infrastructure that support the 
needs of the business.
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Stakeholder Engagement
The MCB is committed to providing Cemeteries 
and Crematoria Association of Western 
Australia (CCAWA) with financial and other 
support. A Letter of Understanding terminated 
the Memorandum of Agreement and provides 
details of this support. The letter also addresses 
any potential conflicts of interest to ensure that 
CCAWA’s decision-making processes are in 
no way affected by the MCB’s financial or other 
contribution to the organisation.

The MCB continued to meet with senior officials 
from the Department of Health to discuss various 
cross-jurisdictional matters relating to funeral 
services and licensing funeral directors. The 
ongoing collaboration supports and protects the 
interests of the community.

Funeral Industry
The MCB continued to actively engage with 
the broader funeral industry including regional 
cemeteries and funeral directors. The MCB is 
seen as being able to offer the highest level 
of collaboration, providing examples of best 
practice in cemetery management and operations, 
occupational safety and health, interpretation 
of cemetery legislation and application, and 
administrative support advice.

The MCB maintains very close working 
relationships with the national and Western 
Australian division of AFDA, the CCAWA and the 
ACCA. The Pinnaroo Planning and Operations 
Coordinator and the Karrakatta Planning and 
Operations Coordinator sit on the CCAWA Board.

The MCB continued to provide free quality 
workshops to funeral directors, allowing AFDA 
members to earn continuing professional 
development points as part of their ongoing 
industry training requirements. Additional ongoing 
training to individual companies and community 
service providers was delivered on request.

Support for Regional Cemeteries
While the MCB’s jurisdiction is metropolitan Perth, 
MCB staff frequently provide expert advice to 
regional cemetery and crematorium operators. 
The MCB supports regional activities by providing 
advice on cemetery best practice, interpretation of 
cemetery legislation and its application, cemetery 
management and operations, occupational safety 
and health, and administrative support advice.  
The MCB facilitated operational training and 
provided digging services, including exhumations.

The MCB welcomes visits from regional 
cemeteries to observe its crematorium facilities, 
digging and preparation of grave sites, cemetery 
design and memorial gardens.  

The MCB conducts information and demonstration 
tours when the annual CCAWA seminar is held in 
Perth.

The MCB continued to provide grave digging 
and cemetery operations crematorium training, 
Certificate III in Funeral Services, staff support and 
advice, workshops and training to regional funeral 
directors either directly or through AFDA.

The Board has approved the CEO to collaborate 
with AFDA and relevant parties on exploring 
initiatives to assist funeral service delivery in 
remote Western Australian communities. AFDA 
acknowledges the skill, expertise and knowledge 
of the MCB, particularly its ability to understand 
the needs of government and communities 
throughout the state.

The key topics of interest are in providing more 
readily accessible cremation opportunities in 
remote regions and the completion of legal 
paperwork for recording deaths, particularly in 
remote Indigenous communities.

The MCB intends to work collaboratively with 
AFDA, regional funeral directors, relevant 
government agencies and local government in 
identifying opportunities to improve regional 
service delivery.
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Santalum Court—Pinnaroo Valley Memorial Park
Work on Stage 1 of Santalum Court at PVMP was 
completed in May 2017. Meandering paths, a leaf 
shaped deck and a shallow stream were installed 
to enhance the natural bush setting and create 
a peaceful environment. The release of Stage 1 
of Santalum Court in October 2017 will provide 
families with a large number of attractive memorial 
options for many years to come.

Water Management
The upgrade of irrigation systems at PVMP has 
continued over the last year, with the replacement 
of some of the mainline pipework infrastructure, 
which has led to an enhanced water flow and more 
efficient operation of the irrigation system.

Installation of additional two-wire irrigation systems 
at Fremantle and Karrakatta has continued, 
extending the coverage of this system throughout 
both cemeteries. A site control system has also 
been installed at Karrakatta. This system will 
eventually provide complete monitoring and control 
of Karrakatta watering operations from one location.

Asbestos Management
In line with its commitment to ensure that it 
manages all asbestos appropriately, the MCB 
undertook a review and update of its Asbestos 
Management Plan and the Asbestos Registers. 
This approach has been effective and is consistent 
with past practices.

In particular the review revealed that Whitby Falls, 
a future cemetery site in the south-east urban 
corridor, has some asbestos issues that require 
attention. The review determined that a number of 
old buildings contain asbestos. An assessment 
is being undertaken on the best approach to deal 
with this, which may require the complete removal 
of asbestos sheeting because of its potentially 
degraded state.

The MCB continues to maintain the barrier fencing 
and signage at RRMP around the two areas 
that contain unauthorised discarded asbestos 
containing materials. Mitigation procedures are 
maintained at all locations where there is asbestos 
recorded.

The MCB will undertake further reviews at various 
sites; however, because of the good condition 
and low potential to disturb existing asbestos 
containing material, PVMP will not need to be 
reviewed until 2020. It has been determined 
that Guildford has had all confirmed asbestos 
containing material removed. As such, there is 
no requirement for any further asbestos register 
reviews for Guildford.

Solar Power
The MCB has, for a number of years now, been 
progressing with its goal to reduce the cost of 
electricity through the continued installation 
of solar panel systems on the roofs of suitable 
buildings within its cemeteries.

The MCB has installed systems at Karrakatta, 
Fremantle and PVMP. These combined systems 
generated approximately 165,000 kilowatt hours 
of power in 2016/17 and saved the MCB about 
$10,000 in electricity costs. 

New viewing deck in Santalum Court at Pinnaroo Valley
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In 2016/17 a new system has been added to the 
roof of the new crematorium at RRMP. This new 
system will generate approximately 60 kilowatt 
hours per day, which will save an extra amount of 
approximately $1,300 in electricity per year.

Recycling of Metals Following Cremation
The recycling of surgical metals remaining after 
cremation has been an important program that 
the MCB has been involved for a number of 
years. The program, which demonstrates the 
MCB’s commitment to reducing its impact on 
the environment, is ensuring that non-renewable 
resources are managed in a responsible manner.

In the 2016/17 period, the MCB collected 4,221 
kilograms of metal for recycling, which amounted 
to $20,301. The MCB has donated this money to 
Cancer Council Western Australia. This donation 
will be used to fund Crawford and Milroy Lodges, 
which provide accommodation for regional patients 
undergoing cancer treatment in Perth. The MCB 
has donated a total of $55,903 to the Cancer 
Council since 2015.

Knowledge and Records Management
The recordkeeping focus has continued on 
improving recordkeeping systems for the MCB 
users while strengthening the MCB’s compliance 
with the State Records Act 2000 (WA).

The Business Classification Scheme 
implementation was completed with more specific 
file titles created to ensure capture of relevant 
business documents. The MCB’s Knowledge 
Management Naming Strategy, including Naming 
Conventions for naming electronic documents and 
an Approved Acronyms List was completed and 
approved. One-on-one training was provided to 
relevant staff and the strategy implemented  
agency wide.

The Electronic Document and Records 
Management System TRIM was upgraded to  
HPE Content Manager 9 (CM9).

Records management projects have been ongoing 
throughout the year. These include back capture 
scanning of documents of critical, significant and 
frequently used hardcopy documents.

Refer to the disclosures and legal compliance 
section for the report on the recordkeeping training 
program.

Records staff maintain a comprehensive range of information
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Information and Communications Technology
The MCB has been aligning its information and 
communications technology (ICT) with its business 
needs to ensure that all operational and strategic 
decisions are based on accurate and reliable 
information. This focused approach on ICT ensures 
continuous service to meet customer expectations 
and better service delivery.

The MCB has implemented stable and reliable 
ICT infrastructure; secure and reliable business 
systems; a new online timesheet system that is 
fully integrated with the payroll system; and a new 
Enterprise Asset Management System that is fully 
integrated with the finance system. The MCB has 
also started automating its business processes 
to increase its effectiveness and productivity. 
The MCB has also increased its focus on online 
security and prevention of cyber-attacks to protect 
its information assets and the business systems.

A new facility at RRMP has been completed 
with new ICT infrastructure to provide increased 
services to the public. Free public wi-fi has been 
installed at the Fremantle and Pinnaroo sites. 
The MCB has set up and implemented systems 
and infrastructure to cater for and deal with any 
growth to ensure consistent service delivery. This 
approach also allows MCB systems to be available 
at all times from anywhere.

The MCB has been continuously working on 
creating a more mobile and innovative workforce. To 
achieve this staff have been provided with mobile 
tools such as iPads for increased productivity and 
better job satisfaction. This strategy also serves 
as an attraction for the younger generation to find 
employment with the public sector using their 
contemporary education skills.

Gnangara Aboriginal Cemetery
After the Memorandum of Agreement between 
the MCB and the Nyoongah Community 
Aboriginal Corporation for the management of 
the Gnangara Aboriginal Cemetery was finalised, 
the MCB became aware of a memorial on the 
land title that identified the land as ‘Potentially 
contaminated—investigation required’. The 
cemetery was previously part of a larger lot when 
dumping took place in certain areas within the 
overall lot. This dumping was reported under the 
Contaminated Sites Act 2003 (WA). Although the 
cemetery was subdivided from the original lot, the 
memorial remained on the land despite it being 
uncontaminated.

The MCB received notification in June 2017 
from the Department of Environment Regulation 
that the cemetery has been re-classified ‘Not 
contaminated—unrestricted use’. The MCB can 
accept the management order for the cemetery, 
records of burials will be input into its cemetery 
records system and new burials will occur in 
accordance with the memorandum.
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Profile and Performance of MCB Cemeteries and Memorial Parks 2016/17

Karrakatta 
Cemetery

Fremantle 
Cemetery

Midland 
Cemetery

Guildford 
Cemetery

Pinnaroo Valley 
Memorial Park

Rockingham 
Regional 

Memorial Park TOTAL

Year established 1899 1898 1903 1890 1978 2007

Hectares 95.56 45.5 24 30.6 116 60.9 372.56

Number of interments 982 514 127 223 442 51 2,339

Number of cremations 3,732 3,117 0 0 2,733 0 9,582

Employee FTE 67.3 30.5 0 0 24.9 4 126.7

Notes:
FTEs are operational and do not include corporate support.
Pinnaroo FTEs provide support to Midland and Guildford Cemeteries.
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The MCB operates as a Government Trading 
Enterprise and uses financial policies based upon 
widely accepted business principles. As an agency 
of the Government of Western Australia, the 
MCB must also apply social, environmental and 
economic principles to all facets of its operations.

The MCB does not receive any government grants 
or appropriation and is required to fund not only 
the day-to-day management of its cemeteries, 
but also all future infrastructure replacement, 
maintenance and development costs, as well as 
the maintenance of cemeteries into the future.

Cost recovery is essential in ensuring that the 
needs of current and future generations are met 
without compromising sustainability principles. In 
maintaining sustainability, all surpluses generated 
are re-invested back into the cemeteries and 
memorial parks for the benefit of the community.

As part of its annual budget determination the 
MCB uses a costing model to examine the 
financial implications of the fee-setting process. 
The MCB also considers a range of non-financial 
aspects that are integral to the fee-setting process, 
such as:
• Benchmarking against cemeteries in other 

states of Australia and other countries.
• The cultural, ethnic and religious needs and 

sensitivities of the diverse community.
• Applying common costs across all cemeteries 

and service types, for example, burial, 
entombment and cremation costs being priced 
the same for all cemeteries.

The MCB ensures the effective and efficient 
management of its resources in accordance with 
sound business principles to optimise performance 
and ensure sustainability. In support of this 
practice, the MCB is committed to ensuring that:
• Professional and statutory principles, standards, 

policies and procedures are properly met.
• Realistic and useful budgets are developed and 

refined and that sound financial management 
principles are applied.

• Accurate financial information relating to the 
MCB’s activities is available on a timely basis.

• Investments are managed in a prudent manner.

The MCB conducted a review of its management 
of investments and concluded that the investments 
would be better managed by an outsourced 
independent specialised service provider. Since 
February 2017, MCB investments have been 
managed by Russell Investments Pty Ltd.

As a consequence of transitioning to a new 
arrangement, a one-off bonus of $3.9m was 
created from the sale of the equities and this  
forms part of the reported profit for the year.  
All investment funds, bonus included, were 
re-invested into the new arrangement, now 
comprising three Russell Investments  
managed funds.

(Refer to Financial Statements for more detailed 
information.)

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
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Financial Performance
An operating surplus of $9.967m (2015/16 $5.074m) was achieved during 
the 2016/17 financial year as a result of the MCB generating revenue from 
cemetery operations of $35.443m (2015/16 $30.181m) while incurring 
operating expenditure of $25.476m (2015/16 $25.107m). Excluding the one-
off bonus on the sale of equities ($3.9m) the MCB performed better than the 
previous year by $0.918m.

The MCB comparative results for the past two financial years are as follows:

Comparison of Financial Performance ($’000)

2016/17 2015/16 Variance

Operating revenue 27,432 26,079 1,382

Investment revenue 3,326 2,295 1,031

Other revenue(a) 4,685 1,807 2,849

Total revenue 35,443 30,181 5,262

Operating expenses (25,476) (25,107) (369)

Operating result 9,967 5,074 4,893

(a) 2016/17 includes the one-off bonus on the sale of equities and services provided free of charge.

Revenue
Total revenue generated during the year amounted to $35.443m  
(2015/16 $30.181m).

Revenue ($’000) 2016/17
% Total 

Revenue 2015/16
% Total 

Revenue

Cremations 9,406 27 8,929 30

Burials 8,090 23 8,167 27

Memorials 5,881 17 5,230 17

Mausoleum crypt and  
vault sales 4,055 11 3,753 12

Investment revenue 3,326 9 2,295 8

Other revenue(a) 4,685 13 1,807 6

Total revenue 35,443 100 30,181 100

(a) 2016/17 includes the one-off bonus on the sale of equities and services provided free of charge.

• Mausoleum crypt sales 11%

• Burials 23%

• Cremations 27%

• Memorials 17%

• Investment revenue 9%

• Other 13%

Revenue 2016/17
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Revenue from the core business activities of the provision of burial and 
cremation services and the sale of memorial products and mausoleum crypt 
spaces was $27.432m (2015/16 $26.079m). Income received from other non-
core business activities, such as interest and distributions from investments, 
leasing of land and catering facilities and sale of investments, contributed 
$8.011m to the MCB’s net surplus for the year (2015/16 $4.102m).

Expenditure
Total expenditure incurred on operating activities during the year amounted  
to $25.476m (2015/16 $25.107m).

Expenses ($’000) 2016/17
% Total 

Expenses 2015/16
% Total 

Expenses

Salaries(a) 12,307 48 11,473 46

Depreciation 3,781 15 3,822 15

Consultants and 
contractors 2,582 10 2,654 11

Materials 1,918 8 1,624 6

Repairs and maintenance 1,435 6 1,132 5

Cost of sales 1,209 5 1,095 4

Insurance 555 2 963 4

Utilities 562 2 564 2

Other expenditure(b) 1,127 4 1,780 7

Total  25,476 100 25,107 100

(a) Salaries expenditure includes on-costs, provisions for employee entitlements and fringe benefits tax.

(b) Includes no impairment of available-for-sale financial assets (2015/16 $752,000).

Expenses 2016/17

• Salaries(a) 48%

• Depreciation 15%

• Consultants and contractors 10%

• Materials 8%

• Repairs and maintenance 6%

• Cost of sales 5%

• Insurance 2%

• Utilities 2%

• Other staffing and on-costs 2%

• Other(b) 3%

METROPOLITAN CEMETERIES BOARD  | ANNUAL REPORT 2016-201739  



Capital Expenditure
During the year, the MCB invested $8.0m (2015/16 $8.9m) in new capital 
expenditure on assets for cemetery development and upgrading of facilities. 
Some of the significant items of capitalised expenditure include:

Capitalised Expenditure $’000

Fremantle Cemetery pavilion, café and landscaping 6,308

Norfolk Chapel 1,551

For the year ended 30 June 2017, the MCB had a balance in Works in 
Progress of $5.7m. Some major projects currently active and ongoing include:

Works in Progress $’000

RRMP crematorium project 3,054

Business systems review 306

Pinnaroo memorial development and densification 288

Operational Highlights and Results against Budget
The MCB achieved a net surplus of $9.967m for the year ended 30 June 2017 
compared to a budget of $3.6m. Total revenue for the financial year was 
$35.443m, which exceeded the budgeted revenue by $5.236m. This 
significant increase in actual revenue over the budget is primarily due to 
unbudgeted gains on the disposal of available-for-sale financial assets.  
Total expenditure incurred on operating activities during the year amounted  
to $25.476m compared to a budget of $26.607m.

The MCB comparative results are as follows:

Comparison of Actual and Budget for the Period Ending 30 June 2017 ($’000)

Actual Budget Variance

Total revenue 35,443 30,207 5,236

Operating expenses (25,476) (26,607) (1,131)

Operating result 9,967 3,600 6,367

During the year the MCB carried out the following core business activities:

Operational Highlights (Number)

30 June  
2017

30 June 
2016

Actual Budget Actual

Burials and entombments 2,339 2,240 2,266

Cremations 9,582 9,285 9,227

Mausoleum crypt and  
vault sales 152 161 147
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The following revenue was earned during the financial year and is shown 
against the budget and the previous financial year:

Revenue ($’000) 30 June 2017 30 June 2016

Actual Budget Actual

Cremations 9,406 8,812 8,929

Burials 8,090 8,617 8,167

Memorials 5,881 5,276 5,230

Mausoleum crypt and  
vault sales

4,055 4,243 3,753

Investment revenue 3,326 2,226 2,295

Other revenue(a) 4,685 1,033 1,807

Total revenue 35,443 30,207 30,181

(a) 2016/17 includes the one-off bonus on the sale of equities and services provided free of charge.

The MCB carried out more funeral services compared to budget and the 
previous financial year.

The number of cremations performed exceeded estimates resulting in an 
increase in cremation revenue compared to the previous financial year.

The number of burials and entombments performed was more than the budget 
and the previous year, although there was a decrease in revenue as a result of 
total number of new grants purchased. Revenue from the sales of mausoleum 
crypts and vaults was higher than previous year but lower than anticipated for 
the current financial year.

Average Cost per Funeral

Average Cost per Funeral

30 June  
2017

30 June 
2016

Actual Budget Actual

Average cost per  
funeral ($)(a) 2,137 2,309 2,119

Funeral services (number) 11,921 11,525 11,493

Total expenditure ($’000) 25,476 26,607 24,355

(a) The average cost per funeral includes all operating expenses adjusted for the impairment of assets.

There has been a slight increase in the current year’s average cost per funeral 
compared to the previous year by $18 (0.9%). The increase in operating 
expenses during the financial year was primarily due to increases in wage rates 
and the costs of supplies and services.

The actual average cost is below the target figure for the year by $172 (8.1%). 
The 2015/16 average cost per funeral of $2,119 remains lower than that of 
other government controlled cemetery operators in Australia.
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Note: For comparative purposes information has been sourced from the audited and published Financial 
Statements for the year ended 30 June 2016.

The Financial Statements Note 38 — ‘Explanatory Statement’ provides further 
explanation of significant variances.

Annual Estimates
In accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 953 Publication and Presentation 
of Estimates, this statement shows the 2016/17 Budget Estimates for the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

2018 
 Estimates

$’000

2017 
Actual
$’000

INCOME
Revenue
Sales of mausoleum crypts and vaults 4,290 4,055
Provision of services 23,891 23,376
Investment income 2,595 3,326
Other revenue 110 646
Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 100 35
Gain on sale of available-for-sale financial 
assets 250 3,976

TOTAL INCOME 31,236 35,414

EXPENSES
Cost of sales 1,102 1,209
Employee benefits expense 13,175 12,307
Supplies and services 5,452 5,036
Depreciation and amortisation expense 3,606 3,781
Impairment of available-for-sale financial 
assets 350 –
Other expenses 3,362 3,143

TOTAL EXPENSES 27,047 25,476

Profit for period before income from  
State Government 4,189 9,938

Income from State Government
Services received free of charge – 29

PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 4,189 9,967

Cost per Funeral

0 500 1000 1500 2000 2500 3000 3500 4000

Southern Metropolitan 
Cemeteries Trust – Victoria

Adelaide Cemeteries 
Authority – South Australia

Greater Metropolitan 
Cemeteries Trust – Victoria

Metropolitan 
Cemeteries Board $2,119

$3,019

$3,128

$3,560

METROPOLITAN CEMETERIES BOARD  | ANNUAL REPORT 2016-201742  



AGENCY  
PERFORMANCE
SIGNIFICANT ISSUES 
IMPACTING THE AGENCY



SIGNIFICANT ISSUES IMPACTING THE AGENCY
Machinery of Government
The Machinery of Government changes, as 
announced by the newly elected State Government 
in April 2017, has the primary objective of 
delivering services in a more efficient and effective 
manner for the Western Australian community.

The MCB, although not directly affected by the 
first round of changes, looks forward to engaging 
in a two-way dialogue with the broader government 
so as to highlight ways in which the MCB can 
enhance its delivery of a vital community service to 
all Western Australians.

Increasing Complexity of Servicing a Diverse 
and Multicultural Community
Greater Perth is the home and, in turn, potentially 
the final resting place for many Western 
Australians—a community that is growing in size 
and increasingly diverse and complex.

The changing demographics of our community 
bring with it a range of religious and cultural 
beliefs that, in meeting its community obligations, 
the MCB needs to cater for. It is important for 
the MCB to ensure that individual community 
requirements are acknowledged and appropriately 
accommodated within our cemeteries system.

The MCB maintains close relationships with 
representative leaders of both religious and 
cultural groups, in addition to other appropriate 
government agencies. It is difficult to meet every 
religious and cultural requirement within the 
confines of legislative and occupational health 
and safety limitations; however, the MCB works 
diligently to accommodate community needs both 
current and emerging.

Review of the Cemeteries and Cremation 
Legislation
The review and amalgamation of the Cemeteries 
Act 1986 (WA), Cremation Act 1929 (WA) and 
Cremation Regulations 1954 (WA) remain a 
priority. Progress was limited in 2016/17; however, 
the MCB will continue to advocate for the review, 
resulting in an Act that better meets the needs of 
the community.

While the review so far has identified a range of 
complex issues that will be addressed with the 
new Act, continuing to operate effectively under 
the current legislation is essential. To enable this, 
the MCB maintains its collaborative relationships, 
working closely with industry and other agencies 
to identify opportunities to deliver improvements 
and guide participants in preparation for the 
legislative changes. This includes exploring ways 
to enhance operations and governance due to 
changes in client needs and attitudes, technology 
and process.
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Perth’s Growing Population—The Impact on a 
Sustainable Cemetery System
Meeting the burial, cremation, memorialisation and 
entombment needs of the greater Perth community 
needs to be supported and accommodated in any 
development planning.

By 2050, it is anticipated that the population of 
Perth and Peel will be 3.5 million (Perth and Peel 
@ 3.5 million. p27), making up more than 75% 
of the Western Australian population. Western 
Australia is home to people from more than 190 
countries, speaking around 270 languages and 
following 130 religious faiths. One third of the 
population was born overseas. At the same time, 
Western Australia is facing the impacts of an 
ageing population.

The allocation of land for cemeteries in the outer 
metropolitan suburbs remains a priority for the 
MCB. Careful planning is required to develop 
allocated land for cemetery use. The construction 
of buildings and roads, landscaping, and 
equipment purchase requires sizeable investment. 
To enable the development of new cemeteries 
and the maintenance of existing cemeteries, the 
MCB regularly reviews its financial position to 
ensure the delivery of these critical services to a 
high standard. Additionally, the MCB continues to 
look for ways to do things better and smarter, to 
improve efficiencies and customer satisfaction, and 
reduce costs.

The MCB’s prudent financial management is 
key to sustaining Perth’s cemetery system. 
Ongoing scheduled upgrades of assets and a 
comprehensive capital works program will make 
sure that the MCB’s infrastructure and facilities, 
at existing and new cemeteries, continue to meet 
the diverse requirements of the community for 
decades to come.
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DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE
AUDITOR GENERAL’S REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
To the Parliament of Western Australia 
METROPOLITAN CEMETERIES BOARD

Report on the Financial Statements
Opinion

I have audited the financial statements of the Metropolitan Cemeteries Board which comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2017, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the operating results and cash flows of the 
Metropolitan Cemeteries Board for the year ended 30 June 2017 and the financial position at the end of that period. They are in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions. 

Basis for Opinion 

I conducted my audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my report. I am independent of the Board in accordance with the Auditor General Act 2006 
and the relevant ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the 
Code) that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements. I have also fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. I believe that the 
audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.

Responsibility of the Board for the Financial Statements

The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Board determines is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board is responsible for assessing the agency’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Western Australian Government has made policy or funding decisions 
affecting the continued existence of the Board. 
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Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements. The objectives of my audit are to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 
I also: 
– Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 

responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,  
or the override of internal control. 

– Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the agency’s internal control. 

– Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Board.
– Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 

uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the agency’s ability to continue as a going concern. If I conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report.

– Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

I communicate with the Board regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit. 
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Report on Controls 
Opinion

I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the design and implementation of controls exercised by the Metropolitan Cemeteries Board.  
The controls exercised by the Board are those policies and procedures established by the Board to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, 
the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions (the overall control objectives).

My opinion has been formed on the basis of the matters outlined in this report. 

In my opinion, in all material respects, the controls exercised by the Metropolitan Cemeteries Board are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that 
the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative 
provisions during the year ended 30 June 2017. 

The Board’s Responsibilities 

The Board is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining controls to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition 
and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006, the Treasurer’s Instructions and other relevant 
written law. 

Auditor General’s Responsibilities 

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is to express an opinion on the suitability of the design of the 
controls to achieve the overall control objectives and the implementation of the controls as designed. I conducted my engagement in accordance with Standard 
on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3150 Assurance Engagements on Controls issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. That standard 
requires that I comply with relevant ethical requirements and plan and perform my procedures to obtain reasonable assurance about whether, in all material 
respects, the controls are suitably designed to achieve the overall control objectives and the controls, necessary to achieve the overall control objectives, were 
implemented as designed. 

An assurance engagement to report on the design and implementation of controls involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the suitability of the 
design of controls to achieve the overall control objectives and the implementation of those controls. The procedures selected depend on my judgement, including 
the assessment of the risks that controls are not suitably designed or implemented as designed. My procedures included testing the implementation of those 
controls that I consider necessary to achieve the overall control objectives. 

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 
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Limitations of Controls 

Because of the inherent limitations of any internal control structure it is possible that, even if the controls are suitably designed and implemented as designed, 
once the controls are in operation, the overall control objectives may not be achieved so that fraud, error, or noncompliance with laws and regulations may occur 
and not be detected . Any projection of the outcome of the evaluation of the suitability of the design of controls to future periods is subject to the risk that the 
controls may become unsuitable because of changes in conditions.

Report on the Key Performance Indicators
Opinion

I have undertaken a reasonable assurance engagement on the key performance indicators of the Metropolitan Cemeteries Board for the year ended 30 June 2017. 
The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency indicators that provide performance information about achieving 
outcomes and delivering services. 

In my opinion, in all material respects, the key performance indicators of the Metropolitan Cemeteries Board are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess 
the Board’s performance and fairly represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2017. 

The Board’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators 
The Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and 
the Treasurer’s Instructions and for such internal control as the Board determines necessary to enable the preparation of key performance indicators that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the key performance indicators, the Board is responsible for identifying key performance indicators that are relevant and appropriate having regard to 
their purpose in accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 904 Key Performance Indicators. 

Auditor General’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility as an assurance practitioner is to express an opinion on the key performance indicators.  
The objectives of my engagement are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the key performance indicators are relevant and appropriate to assist users 
to assess the agency’s performance and whether the key performance indicators are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes my opinion.

I conducted my engagement in accordance with Standard on Assurance Engagements ASAE 3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews 
of Historical Financial Information issued by the Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards Board. That standard requires that I comply with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to assurance engagements. 
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An assurance engagement involves performing procedures to obtain evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the key performance indicators. It also 
involves evaluating the relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators against the criteria and guidance in Treasurer’s Instruction 904 for 
measuring the extent of outcome achievement and the efficiency of service delivery. The procedures selected depend on my judgement, including the assessment 
of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making these risk assessments I obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the engagement in order to design procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances.

I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. 

My Independence and Quality Control Relating to the Reports on Controls and Key Performance Indicators 
I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and the relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance engagements. 
In accordance with ASQC 1 Quality Control for Firms that Perform Audits and Reviews of Financial Reports and Other Financial Information, and Other 
Assurance Engagements, the Office of the Auditor General maintains a comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and procedures 
regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements. 

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators 
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the Metropolitan Cemeteries Board for the year ended 30 June 2017 
included on the Board’s website. The Board’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Board’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on the 
integrity of the Board’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key performance indicators described above. It does not provide 
an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial 
statements and key performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy 
of the audited financial statements and key performance indicators to confirm the information contained in this website version of the financial statements and key 
performance indicators.

PATRICK ARULSINGHAM CA 
ACTING ASSISTANT AUDITOR GENERAL 
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia 
Perth, Western Australia 
22 August 2017
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
To the Parliament of Western Australia

CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

The accompanying financial statements of the Metropolitan Cemeteries Board have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management 
Act 2006 (WA) from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 30 June 2017 and the financial position 
as at 30 June 2017.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Dr Leonie Liveris 
CHAIR

Joe O’Dea (Jnr) 
BOARD MEMBER

Joseph Fortuna
CHIEF FINANCE OFFICER

18 August 2016
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2016

Note
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

INCOME
Revenue
Sales of mausoleum crypts and vaults 6 4,055 3,753
Provision of services 7 23,376 22,326
Investment income 8 3,326 2,295
Other revenue 9 646 840
Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets 10 35 125
Gain on sale of available-for-sale  
financial assets 11 3,976 842
 
TOTAL INCOME 35,414 30,181

EXPENSES
Cost of sales 6 1,209 1,095
Employee benefits expense 12 12,307 11,473
Supplies and services 13 5,036 4,765
Depreciation and amortisation expense 15 3,781 3,822
Impairment of available-for-sale  
financial assets 16 – 752
Other expenses 17 3,143 3,200
 
TOTAL EXPENSES 25,476 25,107
 
Profit for the period before Income from 
State Government 9,938 5,074

Note
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Income from State Government
Services received free of charge 2(r) 29 –
 
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD 9,967 5,074

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that will not be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in asset revaluation surplus (3,440) –
Items that will be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss
Changes in available-for-sale financial 
asset revaluation reserve (3,112) (1,777)
 
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME (6,552) (1,777)
 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE PERIOD 3,415 3,297

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with 
the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 30 JUNE 2017

Note
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 19(a) 1,957 803
Inventories 20 6,029 7,199
Receivables 21 1,663 2,390
Other financial assets 22 – 16,135

Total Current Assets 9,649 26,527

Non-Current Assets
Available-for-sale financial assets 23 52,258 31,783
Property, plant, equipment and vehicles 24 61,071 63,672
Infrastructure 25 20,784 18,008
Intangible assets 26 834 554

Total Non-Current Assets 134,947 114,017

TOTAL ASSETS 144,596 140,544

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 29 959 982
Provisions 30 2,116 1,970
Other current liabilities 31 65 75
Pre-need agreements 32 758 694
Grant renewals 33 659 659

Total Current Liabilities 4,557 4,380

Note
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions 30 493 561
Pre-need agreements 32 7,758 7,330
Grant renewals 33 1,851 1,752
 
Total Non-Current Liabilities 10,102 9,643
 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 14,659 14,023
 
NET ASSETS 129,937 126,521

Equity 34
Contributed equity 13,641 13,641
Reserves 30,273 36,825
Retained earnings 86,023 76,056
 
TOTAL EQUITY 129,937 126,521

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Contributed  
Equity
$’000

Asset Revaluation 
Reserves

$’000

Available-for-sale 
Financial Asset 

Revaluation
Reserve
$’000

Accumulated 
Surplus/ 
(Deficit)
$’000

Total
$’000

Balance at 1 July 2015 13,641 34,448 4,154 70,982 123,224

Total comprehensive income for the year – – (1,777) 5,074 3,297
 
Balance at 30 June 2016 13,641 34,448 2,377 76,056 126,521

 
Balance at 1 July 2016 13,641 34,448 2,377 76,056 126,521

Total comprehensive income for the year – (3,440) (3,112) 9,967 3,416
 
Balance at 30 June 2017 13,641 31,008 (735) 86,023 129,937

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Note
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES
Receipts
Provision of services 24,223 22,544
Sales of mausoleum crypts 4,056 3,753
Investment income received 1,673 2,221
GST receipts on sales 2,824 2,677
Other receipts 650 840
 
Payments
Employee benefits (12,188) (11,862)
Supplies and services (7,792) (8,774)
GST payments on purchases (1,470) (1,630)
GST payments to taxation authority (1,354) (948)
 
NET CASH PROVIDED BY  
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 19(b) 10,622 8,821
 

Note
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale on non-current 
physical assets 160 220
Purchase of investments (53,000) (4,149)
Purchase of non-current physical assets (8,146) (8,679)
Purchase of intangible assets – –
Proceeds from sale of investments 49,518 4,099
Proceeds from drawdown of investments 2,000 –
 
NET CASH USED IN  
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (9,468) (8,509)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,154 312
 
Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the period 803 491
 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
AT THE END OF PERIOD 19(a) 1,957 803

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

1. AUSTRALIAN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
General
The Metropolitan Cemeteries Board’s (MCB) financial statements for the 
year ended 30 June 2017 have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes 
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards 
Board (AASB).

The MCB has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting 
Standards from their operative dates.

Early adoption of Standards
The Board cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless 
specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Other Pronouncements. There has been no early adoption of 
Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not 
operative) by the Board for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2017.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a) General statement
The Board is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose 
financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, 
the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions. 
Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s Instructions to vary 
application, disclosure, format and wording.

The Financial Management Act 2006 (WA) and the Treasurer’s Instructions 
impose legislative provisions that govern the preparation of financial 
statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, 
the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial 
effect upon the reported results, details of that modification and the resulting 
financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of 
accounting using the historical cost convention, except for land, buildings, 
infrastructure and available-for-sale financial assets, which have been 
measured at fair value.

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements 
have been consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless 
otherwise stated.

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are 
rounded to the thousand ($’000).

Note 3 — ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ 
discloses judgements that have been made in the process of applying the 
Board’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts 
recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 — ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions 
made concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at 
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(c) Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration 
received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major business activities 
as follows:

Sale of goods
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets 
when the significant risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the purchaser 
and can be measured reliably.

Provision of services
Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the client or by reference 
to the stage of completion of the transaction.

Lease income
Lease income from operating leases is recognised in income on a straight-line 
basis over the term 
(Note 9 — ‘Other revenue’).

Grants of right of burial
Revenue is recognised in full at the time that the grant is made to a client by 
the Board.

Investment income
Revenue is recognised when the right to receive interest, dividend or 
distribution income is established.

Pre-need agreements
These represent fees paid in advance for cremations and burials. Amounts 
received are recognised as liabilities until such time as the service is 
performed when a transfer is made to revenue.

Grant renewals
These represent the renewal fee for the second 25 years on a grant of right of 
burial. Amounts received are recognised as liabilities until completion of the 
first 25 years when they are taken up in full as revenue.

Gains
Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis.  
These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current assets and some 
revaluations of non-current assets.

(d) Property, plant and equipment, vehicles and infrastructure
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of property, plant and equipment, vehicles and infrastructure costing 
$5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is 
expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and 
equipment, vehicles and infrastructure costing less than $5,000 are immediately 
expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where 
they form part of a group of similar items that are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement
Property, plant and equipment, vehicles and infrastructure are initially 
recognised at cost. For items of property, plant and equipment, vehicles and 
infrastructure acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value 
at the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for 
the measurement of land, buildings and infrastructure and the historical cost 
for all other plant and equipment, vehicles, office equipment and cemetery 
renewal areas. Land, buildings and infrastructure are carried at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation (buildings and infrastructure only) and accumulated 
impairment losses. All other items of office equipment, plant, equipment 
and vehicles and cemetery renewal areas are stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(d) Property, plant and equipment, vehicles and infrastructure (continued)
Land and buildings
Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and  
buildings is determined on the basis of current market buying values 
determined by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings 
are revalued by reference to recent market transactions, the accumulated 
depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and 
the net amount restated to the revalued amount. In the absence of market-
based evidence, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis 
of existing use. This normally applies where buildings are specialised or where 
land use is restricted.

Fair value for existing use buildings is determined by reference to the cost 
of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, 
i.e. the depreciated replacement cost. Independent valuations of buildings 
are provided every three years by the Western Australian Land Information 
Authority (Landgate) and recognised with sufficient regularity to ensure that 
the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at end 
of the reporting period.

Fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison with market 
evidence for land with similar approximate utility (high restricted land use) or 
market value of comparable unrestricted land (low restricted land use). Land is 
independently valued annually by Landgate and recognised annually to ensure 
that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at 
the end of the reporting period.

Infrastructure
Fair value of infrastructure has been determined by reference to the 
depreciated replacement cost (existing use basis) as the assets are 
specialised and no market-based evidence of value is available. Valuations are 
provided by Landgate every three to five years. Land under infrastructure is 
valued on the basis of current use in a cemetery.

When infrastructure is revalued, the accumulated depreciation is restated 
proportionately with the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset 
so that the carrying amount of the asset after revaluation equals its revalued 
amount.

The most significant assumptions in estimating fair value are made in 
assessing whether to apply the existing use basis to assets and in determining 
estimated useful life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where 
the evidence does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets 
and existing use assets.

Refer to Note 24 — ‘Property, plant, equipment and vehicles’, Note 25 — 
‘Infrastructure’ and Note 28 — ‘Fair value measurements’ for further information 
on revaluations.

Derecognition
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment 
and infrastructure, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset is retained in 
the asset revaluation reserve.

Asset revaluation reserve
The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements 
on the revaluation of non-current assets as described in Note 24 — ‘Property, 
plant, equipment and vehicles’.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(d) Property, plant and equipment, vehicles and infrastructure (continued)
Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated 
over their estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of 
their future economic benefits. Land is not depreciated.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates that are 
reviewed annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

Buildings 40 to 63 years
Plant and equipment 3 to 10 years
Plant and equipment (cremators) 15 years
Office equipment 3 to 5 years
Motor vehicles 3 to 7 years
Infrastructure  7 to 57 years
Cemetery renewal areas(a)  3 to 5 years

(a) This class of assets relates to areas of the cemetery which have previously been used for burials and which, 
under the Board’s ‘Renewal’ policy, have been redeveloped to enable further burials or memorialisation to 
take place. It is the policy of the Board that the costs associated with the redevelopment of these areas be 
capitalised and depreciated over the estimated useful life of the development.

(e) Intangible assets
Capitalisation and expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally 
generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are capitalised.  
The cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful lives. 
Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately expensed directly to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost 
or for nominal cost, cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset 
to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for 
the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful life, which is reviewed 
annually) on the straight line basis. All intangible assets controlled by the 
Board have a finite useful life and zero residual value.

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible assets are:
Computer software 3 to 5 years
Software licences 3 to 5 years

Refer to Note 26 — ‘Intangible assets’.

Development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs incurred for an 
individual project are carried forward when the future economic benefits can 
reasonably be regarded as assured and the total project costs are likely to 
exceed $50,000. Other development costs are expensed as incurred.

Computer software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as 
property, plant and equipment. Software that is not an integral part of the 
related hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. Software costing less 
than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition.

Website costs
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless 
they relate to the acquisition or development of an asset when they may be 
capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies 
during the planning phase of a website and ongoing costs of maintenance 
during the operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or 
enhancing a website, to the extent that they represent probable future 
economic benefits that can be reliably measured, are capitalised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(f) Impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment and vehicles, infrastructure, cemetery renewal 
areas and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the 
end of each reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than 
the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to 
the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised. As the Board 
is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, 
the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell 
and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s 
depreciation is materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or 
where there is a significant change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets 
is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation 
reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic 
benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs. 
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet 
available for use are tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period 
irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of 
fair value less cost to sell and the present value of future cash flows expected 
to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk 
of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-
based evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated 
replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable 
amount is measured. Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of 
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(g) Available-for-sale financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement
Available-for-sale financial assets held in managed funds are initially 
recognised at the entry price. The entry price is the net fair value of the unit 
price, after transaction costs to purchase the units have been taken into 
account. The fair value of the unit prices are provided by our independent, 
qualified, fund manager and the initial transaction costs are determined and 
deducted by the fund that the available-for-sale financial assets are invested in. 
Transaction costs that directly relate to the acquisition of the available-for-sale 
investment, and that are taken into account in the entry price of the unit in the 
managed fund, are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Subsequent measurement
Available-for-sale financial assets in managed funds are subsequently 
measured at fair value with reference to the unit price of the financial assets 
as provided by the fund manager and determined by the fund’s administrator. 
The fund’s administrator determines the fair value of the underlying units in the 
managed funds with reference to the market value of the units. The fair values 
of the underlying units are determined with reference to quoted prices (for 
listed equities) and by the use of valuation techniques (for unlisted equities and 
debt instruments).

Unrealised gains or losses due to movements in the fair value of the 
investments are recognised in other comprehensive income and credited to the 
available-for-sale reserve until derecognition or impairment of the available-for-
sale investments. At the date that the investment is derecognised or impaired, 
the cumulative gain or loss in the available-for-sale reserve is derecognised 
and recognised in profit or loss.

Exit prices of units are determined with reference to the fair value of the units 
and also take into consideration transaction costs incurred on disposal of 
the units. Transaction costs incurred on the disposal of the available-for-sale 
investment are recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(g) Available-for-sale financial assets (continued)
Distributions from the fund are recognised in profit or loss. Management fees 
and performance fees are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

Impairment
At the end of each reporting period, the movements in the fair value of the 
units are considered for impairment. Significant and/or prolonged decreases 
in the fair value of the unit prices are considered to be impairment. Generally 
the Board considers a decline of 10% in the fair value of an investment to 
be significant and a decline in the fair value for more than 12 months to be 
prolonged.

At the date that the investment is considered to be impaired, the cumulative 
gain or loss in the available-for-sale reserve is recycled to profit or loss. The 
difference between the original cost of the investment and the fair value at the 
date of impairment is recognised in profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the 
increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised in the statement of profit or loss, the impairment loss is 
reversed through the statement of profit or loss.

(h) Financial instruments
In addition to cash and cash equivalents, the Board has three categories of 
financial instruments:
• loans and receivables
• available-for-sale financial assets
• financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes:
• financial assets

– cash and cash equivalents
– receivables
– managed units

• financial liabilities
– payables.

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value, 
which normally equates to the transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent 
measurement of available-for-sale financial assets is measured at fair value 
based on market bid prices at the end of the reporting period. Changes in 
fair value are recognised in equity. Subsequent measurement of loans and 
receivables and held-to-maturity investments is at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. Please refer to Note 39 — ‘Financial instruments’.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost 
or the face value because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent 
measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

See Note 2(k) — ‘Receivables’.

(i) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term 
cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes. For the 
purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents assets 
comprise cash on hand.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(j) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs 
are assigned by the method most appropriate for each particular class of 
inventory.

Stock of mausoleum crypts held for resale are valued at the lower of cost and 
net realisable value. Costs are assigned on an average cost basis.

Inventories not held for resale are measured at cost unless they are no longer 
required, in which case they are measured at net realisable value.

(k) Receivables
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for 
any uncollectable amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of receivables is 
reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectable 
are written-off against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectable 
amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the 
Board will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent 
to fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days. See Note 2(h) — 
‘Financial instruments’ and Note 21 — ‘Receivables’.

(l) Investments and other financial assets
The Board classifies its investments into the following categories: loans and 
receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends 
upon the purpose for which the investments were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and  
re-evaluates this designation at the end of each reporting period. Investments 
not at fair value are initially recognised at cost being the fair value of 
consideration given, including directly attributable transaction costs.

For the financial years presented, the Board did not hold any investments 
as held for trading assets. After initial recognition, investments classified as 
available-for-sale are measured at fair value. Gains or losses on available-for-
sale investments are recognised as a separate component of equity until the 
investment is sold, collected or otherwise disposed of, or until the investment 
is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss 
previously reported in equity is included in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.

Fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices at the end 
of the reporting period. The Board assesses at each reporting date whether 
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is 
impaired.

(m) Payables
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Board becomes 
obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or 
services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as settlement is 
generally within 30 days. See Note 2(h) — ‘Financial instruments’ and Note 29 
— ‘Payables’.

(n) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised 
where there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is 
probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. See Note 30 — 
‘Provisions’.

Provisions—employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ 
services up to the end of the reporting period.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(n) Provisions (continued)
Annual leave
Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the 
end of the reporting period and is therefore considered to be ‘other long-term 
employee benefits’. The liability for annual leave is recognised and measured 
at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled using remuneration rates expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments, consideration is given to expected 
future wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as 
employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee 
departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, 
the estimated future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Board 
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the reporting period.

Long service leave
The liability for long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after 
the reporting period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts 
expected to be paid when the liability is settled.

Long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months after the 
end of the reporting period is recognised and measured at the present value 
of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the 
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected 
future wage and salary levels including non-salary components such as 
employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of the 
employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments 
are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities 
as the Board does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Pre-conditional and 
conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities 
because the Board has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the 
liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other fund 
providers administer public sector superannuation arrangements in Western 
Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for 
membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according 
to commencement and implementation dates.

Two eligible employees contribute to the Gold State Superannuation Scheme 
(GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995.

Thirteen employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007, who 
were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS, became non-
contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS). 
Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became 
members of the GESB Superannuation Scheme (GESBS). 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
(n) Provisions (continued)
Both of these schemes are accumulation schemes. The Board makes 
concurrent contributions to the GESBS on behalf of employees in compliance 
with the Government Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992 
(Cth). These contributions extinguish the liability for superannuation charges in 
respect of the WSS and GESBS.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and 
whole-of-government reporting. However, from an agency perspective, apart 
from the transfer benefits, it is a defined contribution plan under AASB 119.

The Board has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme.

Local Government Superannuation Fund and other defined contribution plans
Employees of the MCB are entitled, under the government’s superannuation 
choice legislation, to elect to have their contributions paid into qualifying 
superannuation funds of their choice.

The MCB Board contributes to accumulation fund superannuation plans in respect 
of the majority of its employees. The superannuation expense for the reporting 
period is the amount of the statutory and non-statutory contribution obligation 
under the Local Government Superannuation Plan and other plans. The Board’s 
legal or constructive obligation is limited to these contributions. Contributions for 
all employees are expensed for the period in which they are incurred.

Provisions—other
Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not 
employee benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses 
when the employment to which they relate has occurred. Employment on-
costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of 
the Board’s ‘Employment benefits expense’. The related liability is included in 
‘Employment on-costs’ in Note 30 — ‘Provisions’.

See Note 17 — ‘Other expenses’ and Note 30 — ‘Provisions’.

(o) Superannuation expense
Superannuation expense is recognised in the profit or loss of the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and comprises employer contributions paid to the GSS 
(concurrent contributions), WSS, GESBS and other superannuation funds.

See also Note 2(n) — ‘Provisions—Employee benefits: Superannuation’.

(p) Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the 
financial year, as the end of the last pay period for that financial year does not 
coincide with the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a 
few days of the financial year end. The Board considers the carrying amount of 
accrued salaries to be equivalent to its net fair value. See Note 29 — ‘Payables’.

(q) Leases
Lease income from operating leases, where the Board is a lessor, is 
recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the term. See also Note 9 — 
‘Other revenue’.

(r) Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost
Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that the Board 
would otherwise purchase if not donated, are recognised as income at the 
fair value of the assets or services where they can be reliably measured. A 
corresponding expense is recognised for services received. Receipts of assets 
are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

Services received free of charge were recognised for the year for imagery 
services from Landgate.

(s) Comparative figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable 
with the figures presented in the current financial year. Refer to Note 5 — 
‘Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates’ for information on 
the reclassification of comparative figures.
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3.  JUDGEMENTS MADE BY MANAGEMENT IN APPLYING 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make 
judgements about the application of accounting policies that have a significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The Board 
evaluates these judgements regularly.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets
The Board follows the guidance of Australian Accounting Standard 139 
Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement in determining when an 
available-for-sale financial asset is considered impaired.

Significant or prolonged decreases in the fair value of the unit prices are 
considered to be impairment. The Board applies judgement to determine if a 
decline in the fair value of the unit price is significant or prolonged. Generally 
the Board considers a decline of 10% in the fair value of an investment to 
be significant and a decline in the fair value for more than 12 months to be 
prolonged

No impairment of available-for-sale financial assets has been recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 30 June 2017 (2016: 
$752,356).

Inventories
The Board states its inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value, 
where cost is calculated using the average cost method. Judgement has to 
be exercised on assessing the net realisable value of the inventories, which is 
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of operation, less the cost of 
completion and selling expenses. Neither write-off nor provision for inventory 
obsolescence has been recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income for the year ended 30 June 2017 (2016: nil).

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical 
experience and various other factors that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year.

Impairment of property, plant, equipment, vehicles and infrastructure
The Board assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating 
conditions specific to the Board that may lead to impairment of assets. 
Property, plant, equipment, vehicles and infrastructure consist of freehold 
land, buildings, plant, equipment, vehicles, office equipment, cemetery renewal 
areas, buildings and projects under construction, and infrastructure. The 
value of these assets is assessed internally, annually with respect to the local 
market and also the condition and expected remaining life of the assets. No 
impairment of the assets has been recognised for the year ended 30 June 
2017 (2016: nil).

Estimation of useful lives of property, plant, equipment, vehicles, infrastructure 
and intangible assets
The Board determines the useful lives and related depreciation/amortisation 
charges for its property, plant, equipment, vehicles and infrastructure and 
intangible assets. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the 
actual useful lives of the assets of similar nature and functions. It could change 
significantly as a result of technical innovations in response to severe industry 
cycles. The Board will increase the depreciation/amortisation charge where 
useful lives are less than previously estimated, or it will write-off or write down 
technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
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5. DISCLOSURE OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND ESTIMATES
Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards
The Board has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2016 that impacted on the Board.

AASB 2015-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Annual 
Improvements to Australian Accounting Standards 2012 – 
2014 Cycle [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 11, 110, 119, 121, 133, 134, 
137 & 140]
These amendments arise from the issuance of International 
Financial Reporting Standard Annual Improvements to 
IFRSs 2012 2014 Cycle in September 2014, and editorial 
corrections. The Board has determined that the application of 
the Standard has no financial impact.

AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Disclosure 
Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 [AASB 7, 101, 134 & 
1049]
This Standard amends AASB 101 to provide clarification 
regarding the disclosure requirements in AASB 101. 
Specifically, the Standard proposes narrow-focus 
amendments to address some of the concerns expressed 
about existing presentation and disclosure requirements and 
to ensure entities are able to use judgement when applying a 
Standard in determining what information to disclose in their 
financial statements. There is no financial impact.

AASB 1057 Application of Australian Accounting Standards
This Standard lists the application paragraphs for each other 
Standard (and Interpretation), grouped where they are the 
same. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2014–3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations 
[AASB 1 & 11]
The Board establishes Joint Operations in pursuit of its 
objectives and does not routinely acquire interests in Joint 
Operations. Therefore, there is no financial impact on 
application of the Standard.

AASB 2014–4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortisation [AASB 116 & 138]
The adoption of this Standard has no financial impact for the 
Board as depreciation and amortisation is not determined 
by reference to revenue generation, but by reference to 
consumption of future economic benefits.

AASB 2014–9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards Equity 
Method in Separate Financial Statements [AASB 1, 127 & 128]
This Standard amends AASB 127, and consequentially 
amends AASB 1 and AASB 128, to allow entities to use the 
equity method of accounting for investments in subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associates in their separate financial 
statements. As the Board has no joint ventures and associates, 
the application of the Standard has no financial impact.
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5. DISCLOSURE OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Initial application of Australian Accounting Standards

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not-for-Profit 
Public Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049]
The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to 
include application by not-for-profit public sector entities. 
Implementation guidance is included to assist application 
of the Standard by not-for-profit public sector entities. 
There is no financial impact.

AASB 2015-
10

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
Effective Date of Amendments to AASB 10 & 128
This Standard defers the mandatory effective date 
(application date) of amendments to AASB 10 & AASB 
128 that were originally made in AASB 2014-10 so that 
the amendments are required to be applied for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 
instead of 1 January 2016. There is no financial impact.

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Board cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless 
specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Other Pronouncements or by an exemption from TI 1101. 
By virtue of a limited exemption, the Board has early adopted AASB 2015-
7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value 
Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities. Where applicable, the 
Board plans to apply the following Australian Accounting Standards from their 
application date.

Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting 
treatments. The mandatory application date 
of this Standard is currently 1 January 2018 
after being amended by AASB 2012–6, AASB 
2013–9 and AASB 2014–1 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards. The Board 
has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 January 
2018
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Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
This Standard establishes the principles that the 
Board shall apply to report useful information to 
users of financial statements about the nature, 
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue 
and cash flows arising from a contract with a 
customer. The mandatory application date of this 
Standard has been amended by AASB 2015-
8 to 1 January 2019. The Board has not yet 
determined the application or potential impact of 
the Standard.

1 January 
2019

AASB 16 Leases
This Standard introduces a single lessee 
accounting model and requires a lessee to 
recognise assets and liabilities for all leases 
with a term of more than 12 months, unless 
the underlying asset is of low value. The Board 
has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 January 
2019

Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 
1058

Income of Not-for-Profit Entities
This Standard clarifies and simplifies the 
income recognition requirements that apply to 
not-for-profit entities, more closely reflecting 
the economic reality of not-for-profit entity 
transactions that are not contracts with 
customers. Timing of income recognition is 
dependent on whether such a transaction gives 
rise to a liability, or a performance obligation 
(a promise to transfer a good or service), or, 
an obligation to acquire an asset. The Board 
has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 January 
2019

5. DISCLOSURE OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND ESTIMATES (continued)
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Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 
2010–7

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 
3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 
128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and 
Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]
This Standard makes consequential 
amendments to other Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations as a result 
of issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. The 
mandatory application date of this Standard has 
been amended by AASB 2012 6 and AASB 
2014 1 to 1 January 2018. The Board has not 
yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 January 
2018

AASB 
2014–1

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards
Part E of this Standard makes amendments to 
AASB 9 and consequential amendments to 
other Standards. It has not yet been assessed to 
determine the application or potential impact of 
the Standard.

1 January 
2018

Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 
2014-5

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 15
This Standard gives effect to the consequential 
amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards (including Interpretations) arising 
from the issuance of AASB 15. The Board 
has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

1 January 
2018

AASB 
2014–7

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 
2014)
This Standard gives effect to the consequential 
amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
(including Interpretations) arising from the 
issuance of AASB 9 (December 2014). The 
Board has not yet determined the application or 
the potential impact of the Standard.

1 January 
2018

5. DISCLOSURE OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND ESTIMATES (continued)
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Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 
2014–10

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards—Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its Associate or Joint 
Venture [AASB 10 & 128]
This Standard amends AASB 10 and AASB 
128 to address an inconsistency between the 
requirements in AASB 10 and those in AASB 
128 (August 2011), in dealing with the sale or 
contribution of assets between an investor and 
its associate or joint venture. The Board has not 
yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of the Standard.

1 January 
2018

AASB 
2015–8

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards—Effective Date of AASB 15
This Standard amends the mandatory effective 
date (application date) of AASB 15 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers so that AASB 
15 is required to be applied for annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018 
instead of 1 January 2017. The Board has not 
yet determined the application or the potential 
impact of AASB 15.

1 January 
2019

Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 
2016–2

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards—Disclosure Initiative: Amendments 
to AASB 107
This Standard amends AASB 107 Statement 
of Cash Flows (August 2015) to require 
disclosures that enable users of financial 
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities 
arising from financing activities, including both 
changes arising from cash flows and non-cash 
changes. There is no financial impact.

1 January 
2017

AASB 
2016–3

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards—Clarification to AASB 15
This Standard clarifies identifying performance 
obligations, principal versus agent 
consideration, timing of recognising revenue 
from granting a licence, and, provides further 
transitional provisions to AASB 15. The Board 
has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact.

1 January 
2018

5. DISCLOSURE OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND ESTIMATES (continued)
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Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 
2016–4

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards—Recoverable Amount of Non-Cash-
Generating Specialised assets of Not-for-Profit 
Entities
This Standard clarifies that the recoverable 
amount of primarily non-cash-generating assets 
of not-for-profit entities, which are typically 
specialised in nature and held for continuing 
use of their service capacity, is expected to be 
materially the same as fair value determined 
under AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement. The 
Board has not yet determined the application or 
the potential impact.

1 January 
2017

AASB 
2016-7

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards Deferral of AASB 15 for Not-for-
Profit Entities
This Standard amends the mandatory effective 
date (application date) of AASB 15 and defers the 
consequential amendments that were originally set 
out in AASB 2014 5 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards arising from AASB 15 for 
not-for-profit entities to annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2019, instead of 
1 January 2018. There is no financial impact.

1 January 
2017

Operative 
for reporting 

periods 
beginning 
on/after

AASB 
2016-8

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards Australian Implementation Guidance 
for Not–for-Profit Entities
This Standard inserts Australian requirements 
and authoritative implementation guidance for 
not-for-profit entities into AASB 9 and AASB 
15. This guidance assists not-for-profit entities 
in applying those Standards to particular 
transactions and other events. There is no 
financial impact.

1 January 
2019

AASB 
2017-2

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards Further Annual Improvements 2014 
2016 Cycle
This Standard clarifies the scope of AASB 12 
by specifying that the disclosure requirements 
apply to an entity’s interests in other entities 
that are classified as held for sale, held for 
distribution to owners in their capacity as owners 
or discontinued operations in accordance with 
AASB 5. There is no financial impact.

1 January 
2017

5. DISCLOSURE OF CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND ESTIMATES (continued)
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6. TRADING PROFIT
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Sales of mausoleum crypts 4,055 3,753

Opening inventory (7,013) (8,108)
Closing inventory 5,804 7,013
Cost of sales (1,209) (1,095)
 
Trading profit 2,846 2,658

See also Note 2(j) — ‘Inventories’ and Note 20 — 
‘Inventories’

7. PROVISION OF SERVICES
Burials 8,090 8,167
Cremations 9,405 8,929
Memorials 5,881 5,230

23,376 22,326

8. INVESTMENT INCOME
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Interest 305 559
Dividends 907 1,736
Distributions 2,114 –

3,326 2,295

9. OTHER REVENUE
Commission from kiosks 168 139
Rental of leased land 311 335
Insurance recoveries 52 16
Miscellaneous income 115 350

646 840

10.  GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF NON-CURRENT 
ASSETS

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Plant equipment and vehicles 160 153
Cost of disposal of non-current assets
Plant equipment and vehicles (125) (28)
 
Net gain 35 125
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11.  NET GAIN/(LOSS) ON SALE OF 
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL 
ASSETS

2017
$’000

2016 
$’000

Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale 
financial assets
Equity securities 19,542 1,157
Preference share 13,305 2,000
Fixed interest securities 535 1,000

Cost of disposal of available-for-sale financial assets
Equity securities (19,326) (892)
Preference shares (13,280) (2,000)
Fixed interest securities (749) (1,000)

Add: Impairment losses previously recognised 3,622 577
Add: Reclassification adjustment 327 –
Net gain/(loss) on sale of available-for-sale financial 
assets 3,976 842

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE
2017
$’000

2016 
$’000

Wages and salaries(a) 9,899 9,180
Superannuation—defined contributions plans(b) 1,339 1,326
Long service leave(c) 217 235
Annual leave(c) 852 732

12,307 11,473

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefits to the employee plus the fringe benefit tax component, leave 
entitlements including superannuation contribution component.

(b) Defined contribution plans include WSS, GSS and GESBS (contributions paid).

(c) Includes a superannuation contribution component.

Employment on-costs such as workers compensation insurance are included at Note 17 — ‘Other expenses’.

Employment on-costs liability is included at Note 30 — ‘Provisions’.

13. SUPPLIES AND SERVICES
2017
$’000

2016 
$’000

Communications 220 198
Consultants and contractors 2,582 2,654
Consumables 168 271
Materials 1,918 1,624
Travel 13 9
Other 135 9

5,036 4,765
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14. COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
(a) Compensation of Board members
The number of Board members, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, 
non-monetary benefits and other benefits received for the financial year, fall 
within the following bands are:

2017 2016

Compensation Bands ($)
$0 – $10,000 6 6
$10,001 – $20,000 1 1

$’000 $’000

The total compensation of the members of the 
Board is: 62 62

The total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the 
MCB in respect of Board members.

No Board members are members of the Pension Scheme.

(b) Compensation of Senior Officers
The number of Senior Officers, other than Senior Officers reported as Board 
members, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits 
and other benefits for the financial year fall within the following bands are:

2017 2016

Compensation Bands ($)
$ 50,001 – $ 60,000 – 1
$ 80,001 – $ 90,000 – 1
$150,001 – $160,000 – –
$170,001 – $180,000 – –
$180,001 – $190,000 – –
$190,001 – $200,000 2 1
$200,001 – $210,000 – –
$210,001 – $220,000 1 1
$230,001 – $240,000 – 1
$290,001 – $300,000 – –
$300,001 – $310,000 1 1

$’000 $’000

Short-term employee 
benefits 729 767
Post-employment benefits 107 123
Other long-term benefits 79 129
Termination benefits – 76
The total compensation of 
the Senior Officers is: 915 1,095

The total compensation includes the superannuation expense incurred by the 
Board in respect of Senior Officers other than Senior Officers reported as 
Board members.

No Senior Officers are members of the Pension Scheme.
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15.  DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION 
EXPENSE

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Depreciation
Plant, equipment and vehicles 1,502 1,618
Office equipment 202 341
Buildings 1,028 932
Infrastructure 604 505
Cemetery renewal areas 221 231

3,557 3,627

Amortisation
Intangible assets 224 195

224 195

Total depreciation and amortisation 3,781 3,822

16. IMPAIRMENT OF AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
In assessing an impairment loss at the end of reporting period for its available-
for-sale financial assets, the Board analysed the potential indicators of 
impairment outlined in paragraphs 59(a) to 59(f) of AASB 139 Measurement 
of Financial Instruments.

The Board used professional judgement in weighing up what was temporary 
or short-term market volatility against longer term trends in assessing the 
likelihood that the Board would be able to recover its investments. The Board 
measured the impairment loss as the difference between the carrying amount 
and market price of financial instruments at 30 June 2017. The breakdown of 
the impairment loss per class of available-for-sale financial assets was:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Equity securities – 752
– 752

17. OTHER EXPENSES
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Building and infrastructure maintenance 1,016 855
Equipment repairs and maintenance 419 276
Employment on-costs(a) (see Note 12 –  
‘Employee benefits expense’) 154 149
Board expenses 56 57
Kiosk operation expenses 3 6
Administration expenses 147 166
Other staffing 231 164
Utilities 562 564
Insurance 555 963

3,143 3,200

(a) Includes worker’s compensation and other employment on-costs. The on-costs liability associated with the 
recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at Note 30 — ‘Provisions’. Superannuation 
contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in 
employment on-costs.

METROPOLITAN CEMETERIES BOARD  | ANNUAL REPORT 2016-201777  



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

18. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
Related parties of the Board include:
• all Ministers and their close family members, and their controlled or jointly 

controlled entities
• all Board members and their close family members, and their controlled or 

jointly controlled entities
• all Senior Officers and their close family members, and their controlled or 

jointly controlled entities.

The MCB has one related party, Board member Mr Joseph O’Dea Jnr, who is 
the Managing Director of Bowra and O’Dea Pty Ltd, a funeral director.

All funeral directors operating within the Perth Metropolitan area transact with 
the MCB as the provider of cemetery services. Funeral directors are charged 
fees, which are approved by the Board, the State Government and are 
advertised in the Government Gazette.

Bowra and O’Dea Pty Ltd transacts with the MCB in a commercial, arm’s 
length manner, on the same terms and conditions as all other funeral directors 
who operate in the Perth Metropolitan area. Bowra and O’Dea Pty Ltd do 
not transact with the MCB in any other manner. For the reported period 
Bowra and O’Dea Pty Ltd had 3,401 funeral transactions (comprising burials, 
entombment and cremation) with the MCB and the appropriate gazetted 
funeral fees were paid to the MCB.

In addition, all Board members must disclose any conflict of interests at 
Board meetings, or before making any decisions for the MCB. Mr O’Dea on 
all occasions excuses himself from meetings when any decisions on financial 
matters affecting funeral directors are discussed or made, thus ensuring 
neither he, nor Bowra and O’Dea Pty Ltd, is afforded any benefit that may 
affect the MCB’s financial position and performance.

19.NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows 
is reconciled to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as 
follows:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 1,957 803
1,957 803

(b)  Reconciliation of profit to net cash flows 
provided by operating activities

Profit 9,967 5,074
Non-cash items
Profit on sale of property, plant, equipment and 
vehicles (35) (125)
Distributions revenue (2,114) –
Investment management fees 122 –
Depreciation of non-current assets 3,781 3,822
Profit from sale of investments (3,976) (842)
Impairment write-off on available-for-sale financial 
assets – 752
Other non-cash items 6 (29)

(Increase)/decrease in assets
Other current assets 726 (206)
Current inventories 1,170 1,111
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2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities
Current payables 256 (1,152)
Pre-need agreements 590 383
Current provisions (10) (21)
Employee provisions 77 (44)

Net GST receipts/(payments)
Change in GST receivables/(payables) 62 99

Net cash provided by operating activities 10,622 8,821

20. INVENTORIES
Current
Inventories held for resale (at cost)
Mausoleum crypt stock—Karrakatta Cemetery Stage 5 249 437
Mausoleum crypt stock—Karrakatta Cemetery Stage 6 2,184 2,840
Mausoleum crypt stock—Fremantle Cemetery 3,167 3,492
Mausoleum crypt stock—Midland Cemetery – –
Mausoleum crypt stock—Guildford Cemetery 99 125
Vault stock—Midland Cemetery 39 54
Vault stock—Fremantle Cemetery 28 28
Ossuary stock 37 37

5,803 7,013
Inventories not held for resale (at cost)
Stores 226 186

Total current inventory 6,029 7,199

21. RECEIVABLES
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Current
Receivables 1,256 1,523
Accrued revenue 247 708
GST Receivables 25 –

1,528 2,231
Allowance for impairment of receivables – –

1,528 2,231
Prepayments 135 159
 

1,663 2,390

Credit risk
Ageing of receivables past due date are not 
impaired based on the information provided to senior 
management at the reporting period end date:

Greater than 6 months 3 3

The Board does not hold any collateral as security or other credit 
enhancements as security relating to receivables.

See also Note 2(k) — ‘Receivables’ and Note 39 — ‘Financial instruments’.

22. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Current
Held-to-maturity investments carried at amortised 
cost – 16,135
 
 – 16,135

19.NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
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23.  AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL 
ASSETS

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

At the beginning of year 31,783 33,449
Additions – 4,179
Disposals (33,382) (4,158)
Capital returned – –
Revaluation surplus/(deficit) transferred to equity 1,599 (1,687)
At end of year – 31,783

Managed funds 52,258 –
Equity securities – 18,564
Preference shares – 12,744
Fixed interest securities – 475

52,258 31,783

See also Note 39 — ‘Financial instruments’

Managed funds comprise funds invested predominantly in shares and unit 
trusts, listed or about to be listed on the Australian Securities Exchange.  
Listed securities comprised equity securities, preference shares and fixed 
interest securities.

All of which are available to be traded in active markets. The fair value of these 
securities is based on quoted market prices at the reporting period end date. 
The quoted market prices used for the listed securities held by the Board is the 
current bid price.

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 28 — ‘Fair value 
measurements’.
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24.  PROPERTY, PLANT, EQUIPMENT  
AND VEHICLES

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Land
At fair value(i) 17,080 20,520

17,080 20,520

Buildings
At fair value(ii) 33,404 28,522
Accumulated depreciation (1,949) (971)

31,455 27,551

Buildings and projects under construction
Construction costs 5,730 10,065

5,730 10,065

Plant, equipment and vehicles
At cost 12,600 11,919
Accumulated depreciation (7,708) (7,683)

4,892 4,236

Office equipment
At cost 3,220 2,703
Accumulated depreciation (2,022) (1,844)

1,198 859

24.  PROPERTY, PLANT, EQUIPMENT  
AND VEHICLES

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Cemetery renewal areas
At cost 3,410 2,915
Accumulated depreciation (2,694) (2,474)

716 441
 

61,071 63,672

(i)  Freehold land was revalued as at 1 July 2016 by Landgate. The valuations were performed during the year 
ended 30 June 2017 and recognised at 30 June 2017. All the land owned by the Board is used for cemetery 
purposes with the exception of 9.5 hectares of land adjacent to the Fremantle cemetery, which is currently 
zoned and used for industrial purposes. Fair value of this industrial land has been determined by Landgate on 
the basis of its market value. Fair value of all other land used for cemetery purposes is valued by Landgate on 
the basis of comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land).

(ii)  Buildings were revalued at 30 June 2015 by Landgate. Fair values were determined on the basis of comparison 
with market evidence with low level utility (high restricted use). Accumulated depreciation has been credited to 
the asset accounts prior to revaluation and the asset values restated to the revalued amounts.

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 28 — ‘Fair value 
measurements’.

METROPOLITAN CEMETERIES BOARD  | ANNUAL REPORT 2016-201781  



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

24. PROPERTY, PLANT, EQUIPMENT AND VEHICLES (continued)
Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment and vehicles at the beginning and the end of the year.

Plant 
equipment and 

vehicles
$’000

Office 
equipment

$’000

Cemetery 
renewal areas

$’000
Freehold land

$’000
Buildings

$’000

Buildings and 
projects under 
construction

$’000
Total
$’000

Year ended 30 June 2017
Carrying amount at start of year 4,236 860 441 20,520 27,551 10,065 63,672
Additions 640 – – – – 7,779 8,419
Transfers between asset categories 407 – – – (407) – –
Transfers from/(out of) work in progress 1,236 540 496 – 5,339 (12,114) (4,503)
Disposals (125) – – – – – (125)
Transfers to operating expenditure – – – – – – –
Revaluation increments/(decrements) – – – (3,440) – – (3,440)
Depreciation (1,502) (202) (221) – (1,028) – (2,953)

Carrying amount at end of year 4,892 1,198 716 17,080 31,455 5,730 61,071

Year ended 30 June 2016
Carrying amount at start of year 4,508 614 672 20,520 28,358 4,528 59,200
Additions 553 18 – – – 9,036 9,607
Transfers between asset categories – – – – – – –
Transfers from/(out of) work in progress 887 569 – – 122 (3,356) (1,778)
Disposals (94) – – – – – (94)
Transfers to operating expenditure – – – – – (143) (143)
Revaluation increments/(decrements) – – – – – – –
Depreciation (1,618) (341) (231) – (932) – (3,121)

Carrying amount at end of year 4,236 860 441 20,520 27,551 10,065 63,672

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 28 — ‘Fair value measurements’.
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25. INFRASTRUCTURE
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

At fair value(i) 21,916 18,536
Accumulated depreciation (1,132) (528)

20,784 18,008

(i)  Infrastructure assets were revalued by Landgate as at 30 June 2015. Fair value was determined on the basis 
of the depreciated replacement cost of the assets. Accumulated depreciation has been credited to the asset 
accounts prior to revaluation and the asset values restated to the revalued amounts.

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Reconciliation
Carrying amount at start of year 18,008 17,658
Transfers from work in progress 3,379 855
Revaluation increment –
Additions –
Depreciation expense (603) (505)
Carrying amount at end of year 20,784 18,008

Information on fair value measurements is provided in Note 28 — ‘Fair value 
measurements’.

26. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Computer software
At cost 1,545 1,052
Accumulated amortisation (785) (610)

760 442
Software licences
At cost 204 193
Accumulated amortisation (130) (81)

74 112

Total carrying amount of intangible assets  
at end of year 834 554

Reconciliation
Computer software
Carrying amount at start of year 442 250
Additions 493 340
Write back of the amortisation expense – –
Amortisation expense (175) (148)
Carrying amount at end of year 760 442

Software licences
Carrying amount at start of year 112 147
Additions 10 12
Amortisation expense (48) (47)
Carrying amount at end of year 74 112

Total carrying amount of intangible assets at  
end of year 834 554
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27.  IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS—PROPERTY, PLANT, EQUIPMENT 
AND VEHICLES

There were no indications of impairment to property, plant, equipment, 
vehicles, infrastructure or intangible assets at 30 June 2017. All surplus assets 
at 30 June 2017 have been written off.

The Board held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life 
during the reporting period. At the end of reporting period there were no 
intangible assets not yet available for use.

28. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is the amount at which the 
asset could be sold or the liability transferred in a current transaction between 
market participants, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The fair values and net fair values of financial instrument assets and liabilities 
are determined and classified as follows:
• Level 1: fair value measurements have been based on quoted prices 

(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
Board can access at the measurement date.

• Level 2: fair value of land is derived using the market approach. Market 
evidence of sales prices of comparable land in close proximity is used to 
determine price per square metre.

• Level 3: fair value is determined in accordance with generally accepted 
pricing models using unobservable market inputs.

All financial liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, 
whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that 
represent a reasonable approximation of fair value.

Assets measured  
at fair value: 
2017

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Fair value
at end of 
period
$’000

Managed funds (Note 23) 52,258 – – 52,258
Land (Note 24) – 13,400 3,680 17,080
Buildings (Note 24) – – 31,455 31,455
Infrastructure (Note 25) – – 20,784 20,784

52,258 13,400 55,919 121,577

Assets measured  
at fair value: 
2016

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Fair value
at end of 
period
$’000

Available-for-sale financial 
assets (Note 23) 31,783 – – 31,783
Land (Note 24) – 16,800  3,720 20,520
Buildings (Note 24) – – 27,551 27,551
Infrastructure (Note 25) – – 18,008 18,008

31,783 16,800 49,279 97,862

Managed funds (Level 1 fair values)
The managed fund investments classified as available-for-sale assets are 
considered Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy, as the fair value of the managed 
fund is determined with reference to the net asset value of the underlying units 
in the fund. The net asset value prices are regularly provided and the managed 
fund is considered to trade in an active market.

The fair value of the managed funds (the net asset value of the underlying 
asset in the fund) is obtained from the fund manager appointed to each 
managed fund. The Board does not develop any quantitative inputs to 
determine the fair value of the managed funds. The fund managers determine 
the fair value of each unit in the managed fund with reference to its quoted 
price, if available, and by the use of valuation techniques where quoted prices 
are not available.

METROPOLITAN CEMETERIES BOARD  | ANNUAL REPORT 2016-201784  



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

28. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)
Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3)

2017
Land
$’000

Buildings
$’000

Infra-
structure

$’000

Fair value at the start of the period 3,720 27,551 18,008
Additions – 4,882 3,380
Revaluation increments/(decrements) (40) – –
Depreciation expense – (978) (604)
Fair value at the end of the period 3,680 31,455 20,784

2016
Land
$’000

Buildings
$’000

Infra-
structure

$’000

Fair value at the start of the period 3,720 28,360 17,658
Additions – 123 855
Revaluation increments/(decrements) – – –
Depreciation expense – (932) (505)
Fair value at the end of the period 3,720 27,551 18,008

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.

Land
Fair value for restricted use land is based on comparison with market 
evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land). The 
relevant comparators of land with low level utility is selected by Landgate 
and represents the application of a significant Level 3 input in this valuation 
methodology. The fair value measurement is sensitive to values of comparator 
land, with higher values of comparator land correlating with higher estimated 
fair values of land.

Building and infrastructure (Level 3 fair values)
Fair value for existing use specialised buildings and infrastructure assets 
is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future 
economic benefits embodied in the asset (i.e. the depreciated replacement 
cost). Depreciated replacement cost is the current replacement cost of an 
asset less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to 
reflect the already consumed economic benefit, expired economic benefit or 
obsolescence of the asset. Current replacement cost is generally determined 
by reference to the market observable replacement cost of a substitute asset 
of comparable utility and the gross project size specifications.

Valuation using depreciated replacement cost utilises the significant Level 3 
input, consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of assets which is estimated 
by Landgate. The fair value measurement is sensitive to the estimate of 
consumption/obsolescence, with higher values of the estimate correlating with 
lower estimated fair values of buildings and infrastructure.

Basis of valuation
In the absence of market-based evidence due to the specialised nature of 
some non-financial assets, Land, Buildings and Infrastructure above are valued 
at Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis. The existing use 
basis recognises that restrictions or limitations have been placed on their use 
and disposal of the assets. These restrictions are imposed by virtue of the 
assets being held to deliver a specific community service and the Board’s 
enabling legislation.

Land reserved for cemetery and cremation purposes is measured at fair value 
with regard to the lands highest and best use taking into account legal and 
constructive restrictions imposed on the land and commitments made in 
relation to the intended use of the land. The land values have been assessed 
on the basis of their use as cemeteries, a use considered to be highly 
restrictive. As the utility of the land is severely diminished by the restriction, 
the value is based on sales of land of a similar diminished utility, typically ‘bush 
forever’ land.
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28. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)
Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurement

Description

Fair value as 
at 2017
$’000

Fair value as 
at 2016
$’000 Valuation technique

Unobservable 
inputs

Relationship of unobservable  
inputs to fair value

Land 3,680 3,720 Market approach Selection of land with similar 
approximate utility

Higher value of similar land 
increases fair value

Buildings 31,455 27,551 Depreciated replacement 
cost

Consumed economic benefit/
obsolescence of asset

Greater consumption of economic 
benefit or increased obsolescence 
lowers fair value

Infrastructure 20,784 18,008 Depreciated replacement 
cost

Consumed economic benefit/
obsolescence of asset

Greater consumption of economic 
benefit or increased obsolescence 
lowers fair value

Reconciliations of opening and closing balances are provided in Note 24 — ‘Property, plant, equipment and vehicles’ and Note 25 — ‘Infrastructure’.
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29. PAYABLES
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Current
Trade payables 574 477
GST payable – 81
Accrued expenses 250 346
Accrued salaries 42 –
Retention monies held on capital projects 19 39
Other 74 39

959 982

See Note 2(m) — ‘Payables’ and Note 39 — ‘Financial instruments’.

30. PROVISIONS
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave(i) 809 842
Long service leave(ii) 1,183 1,012

1,992 1,854
Other provisions
Employment on-costs(iii) 124 116

124 116
 
Total current 2,116 1,970

30. PROVISIONS
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Non-current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave(ii) 464 528

464 528
Other provisions
Employment on-costs(iii) 29 33

29 33
 
Total non-current 493 561
Total provisions 2,609 2,531
(i)  Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for 

at least 12 months after the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will 
occur as follows:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Within 12 months of the reporting period 654 681
More than 12 months after the reporting period 155 161

809 842
(ii) Long service liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement 

for at least 12 months after the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities 
will occur as follows:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Within 12 months of the reporting period 380 1,012
More than 12 months after the reporting period 1,267 528

1,647 1,540
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30. PROVISIONS (continued)
(iii) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs 

including superannuation and workers compensation insurance. The liability for such on-costs is included here. 
The associated expense is included under annual leave and long service leave expense Note 17 — 
 ‘Other expenses’.

Movements in other provisions
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of year 149 143
Net additional provisions recognised 5 6
Carrying amount at end of year 154 149

31. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES
Income received in advance 67 75
Other refunds payable (2) –

65 75

32. PRE-NEED AGREEMENTS
Current
Cremation 558 538
Burial 200 156

758 694
Non-current
Cremation 6,078 5,682
Burial 1,680 1,648
 7,758 7,330
Total pre-need agreements 8,516 8,024

33. GRANT RENEWALS
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Current
Other grant renewals 659 659

659 659
Non-current
Mausoleum grant renewals 958 936
Other grant renewals 893 816

1,851 1,752
Total grant renewals 2,510 2,411
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34. EQUITY 
2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Contributed equity
Balance at start of year 13,641 13,641
Balance at end of year 13,641 13,641

Reserves
Asset revaluation surplus
Balance at start of year 34,448 34,448
Net revaluation increments/(decrements)

Land – –
Managed units (735) –
Buildings (3,440) –
Infrastructure – –

Balance at end of year 30,273 34,448 

Available-for-sale financial assets revaluation surplus
Balance at start of year 2,377 4,154
Revaluation of shares (2,377) (1,777)
Balance at end of year – 2,377
 
Balance of asset revaluation surplus at end of year 30,273 36,825

Accumulated surplus
Balance at start of year 76,056 70,982
Result for the period 9,967 5,074
Balance at end of year 86,023 76,056
 
Balance of equity at end of year 129,937 126,521

35. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure 
additional to the amounts reported in the financial statements, are payable as 
follows:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

Within 1 year 493 409

The capital commitments include amounts for:
Buildings – 9
Plant and equipment 491 75
Infrastructure – 131
Software – 4
Cemetery renewal 2 5
Office equipment – 185

493 409

36. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
The Board did not have any material events occurring after the reporting period.
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37. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Contingent assets
As at 30 June 2017, the Board did not have any contingent assets.

Contingent liabilities
Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Board is required to report 
known and suspected contaminated sites to the Department of Environment 
Regulation (DER). In accordance with the Act, DER classifies these sites 
on the basis of the risk to human health, the environment and environmental 
values. Where sites are classified as contaminated—remediation required or 
possibly contaminated—investigation required, the Board may have a liability in 
respect of investigation or remediation expenses.

The Board has two sites which have asbestos contamination that have been 
registered with the DER.

Site ID DER Ref Address Description

520 
(5827)

11/90/683 11313 Myles Rd 
Swan View 6056 
WA

Crown Reserve 6955 Midland 
Cemetery, Lot 11313, #1674 
Myles Road + Blanchard 
Road Swan View

8743 
(63650)

DER2014/ 
2574

102 Baldivis Rd 
Baldivis 6171 
WA

Lot 1355 (no. 102) Baldivis 
Road, Baldivis – Rockingham 
Regional Memorial Park – 
Asbestos

Work has been performed on both sites and the contamination has been contained.

In May 2016, QED Environmental Services was commissioned by the 
Board to conduct a site investigation to determine the quantity of asbestos 
contaminated material located at the Rockingham Regional Memorial Park 
(RRMP) that would require remediation or removal from the site.

Two remediation options were recommended:
• removal from the site and disposal of asbestos contaminated soils at a 

licenced waste facility
• removal and reburial within a specified location at the site.

Removal of the asbestos from RRMP has not progressed to date as it will 
be undertaken as a part of the proposed bulk sand extraction project. It is 
expected that this will take place after the DER has issued the Board with a 
clearing permit.
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38. EXPLANATORY STATEMENT
This statement provides details of any significant variations between actual results 
for 2017 and 2016 and between estimates and actual results for 2017. Significant 
variations are considered to be those greater than 10% or $2,000,000.

Significant variances between current and prior year—actual revenues 
and expenditures

Vari ance 
Note

2017 
Actual
$’000

2016 
Actual
$’000

Variance
$’000

Variance
%

INCOME
Revenue
Sales of mausoleum 
crypts and vaults 4,055 3,753 (303) (8)
Provision of services 23,376 22,326 (1,050) (5)
Investment income 1 3,326 2,295 (1,031) 45
Other revenue 2 646 840 194 23
Gains
Gain on disposal of 
non-current assets 3 35 125 90 72
Gain on sale of 
available-for-sale 
financial assets 4 3,976 842 (3,134) (372)
Income from  
State Government
Services received free 
of charge 5 29 – (29) (100)
TOTAL INCOME 35,443 30,181 (5,262) (17)

Vari ance 
Note

2017 
Actual
$’000

2016 
Actual
$’000

Variance
$’000

Variance
%

EXPENSES
Cost of sales 6 1,209 1,095 (114) (10)
Employee benefits 
expense 12,307 11,473 (834) (7)
Supplies and services 5,036 4,765 (271) (6)
Depreciation and 
amortisation expense 3,781 3,822 41 1
Impairment of 
available-for-sale 
financial assets 7 – 752 752 100
Other expenses 3,143 3,200 57 2
TOTAL EXPENSES 25,476 25,107 (369) (2)
 
PROFIT FOR THE 
PERIOD 9,967 5,074 (4,893) (96)

Variance notes
1. Investment income
During the financial year, the Board received higher distributions and dividends 
from its investments due to improved investment performance for the period 
than the previous year.

2. Other revenue
The variance of $194,000 is mainly due to a higher number of bank guarantees 
being called back by the Board last year, whereas none were called in this 
financial year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

38. EXPLANATORY STATEMENT (continued)
3. Gain on disposal of non-current assets
During the financial year, the Board disposed of items of property, plant and 
equipment with a higher carrying amount than in the prior year resulting in a 
lower gain on disposal.

4. Gain on sale of available-for-sale financial assets
During the financial year, the Board carried out the transition of fixed term 
deposits and individual equities into Managed Investment Funds operated 
by Russell Investments Pty Ltd, resulting in realised gains on the sale of the 
existing equities.

5. Services received free of charge
The variance is due to imagery services received free of charge from Landgate 
for the current year.

6. Cost of sales
The variance is due to a higher number of crypt sales being made compared to 
the prior financial year resulting in higher cost of sales incurred.

7. Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets
During the financial year, the Board completed the transition of term deposits 
and individual equities into Managed Investment Funds resulting in no 
impairments for this financial year.

Significant variances between actual and estimated results for the 
financial year

Vari ance 
Note

2017
Actual
$’000

2017
Estimate

$’000
Variance

$’000
Variance

%

INCOME
Revenue
Sales of mausoleum 
crypts and vaults 4,055 4,243 (188) (4)
Provision of services 23,376 22,705 671 3
Investment income 8 3,326 2,226 1,100 50
Other revenue 9 646 477 169 35
Gains
Gain on disposal of 
non-current assets 10 35 150 (115) (77)
Gain on sale of 
available-for-sale 
financial assets 11 3,976 406 3,570 876
Income from  
State Government
Services received free 
of charge 12 29 – 29 (100)

TOTAL INCOME 35,443 30,207 5,236 17

METROPOLITAN CEMETERIES BOARD  | ANNUAL REPORT 2016-201792  



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

Vari ance 
Note

2017
Actual
$’000

2017
Estimate

$’000
Variance

$’000
Variance

%

EXPENSES
Cost of sales 1,209 1,173 36 3
Employee benefits 
expense 12,307 12,948 (641) (5)
Supplies and services 5.036 5.404 (368) (7)
Depreciation and 
amortisation expense 3,781 3,738 43 1
Impairment of 
available-for-sale 
financial assets – – – –
Other expenses 3,143 3,344 (201) (6)

TOTAL EXPENSES 25,476 26,607 (1,131) (4)
 
PROFIT FOR  
THE PERIOD 9,967 3,600 6,367 177

Variance notes
8. Investment income
During the financial year, the Board received higher distributions and dividends 
from its investments due to improved investment performance for the period 
than anticipated.

9. Other revenue
The variance between the estimate and actual was largely due to higher 
insurance recoveries and misc. income.

10. Gain on disposal of non-current assets
During the financial year, the Board disposed of items of property, plant and 
equipment at a higher carrying amount than that budgeted, resulting in a lower 
gain on disposal than the 2017 estimate.

11. Gain on sale of available-for-sale financial assets
During the financial year, the Board carried out the transition of fixed term 
deposits and individual equities into Managed Investment Funds resulting in 
realised gains on the sale of the existing equities.

12. Services received free of charge
The variance is due to unplanned imagery services received free of charge 
from Landgate.

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial instruments held by the Board are cash and cash equivalents, 
managed investment units, receivables and payables. The Board’s overall 
risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below. 
Investment decisions are made by the Board’s Committee for Finance, Audit 
and Risk on the basis of advice received from the Board’s professional 
financial advisers. Risks associated with the investments are managed through 
the application of the guidelines set out in the Board’s Investment Policy.

(a) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices and interest rates will 
affect the Board’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.

Price risk
The Board is exposed to equity security price risk because of the investments 
held by the Board that are classified as available-for-sale. These securities 
comprise Australian and International equities. To manage its price risk 
arising from investment in equity securities, the Board diversifies its portfolio. 
Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the limits set by the 
Board.

38. EXPLANATORY STATEMENT (continued)

METROPOLITAN CEMETERIES BOARD  | ANNUAL REPORT 2016-201793  



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Sensitivity analysis—prices
If prices for managed funds change by 10% with all other variables being held 
constant, the profit and equity will be:

2017 2016
Profit
$’000

Equity
$’000

Profit
$’000

Equity
$’000

Managed funds
Balanced fund
– increased by – 4,154 – –
– decreased by (4,154) (4,154) – –
Opportunities fund
– increased by – 537 – –
– decreased by (537) (537) – –
Cash enhanced fund
– increased by – 535 – –
– decreased by (535) (535) – –
Equities listed in Australia
– increased by – – – 6,357
– decreased by – – (6,357) (6,357)
(For comparative purposes, the prior year sensitivity was determined to be 20%)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises on interest bearing financial instruments recognised in 
the Statement of Financial Position. It is the risk that changes in interest will 
affect the Board’s income, or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. 
The Board’s exposure to interest rate risk for changes in interest rates arises 
mainly from its’ cash deposit and fixed income instruments held in managed 
funds. Interest rate risk is managed by the Board on an ongoing basis with 
the primary objective of limiting the extent to which net interest income could 
be affected by an adverse movement in interest rates. The Board’s policy is to 
obtain the most favourable interest rates available for its cash deposit. Interest 
rate risk related to fixed income instruments held in managed funds, are 
managed by the independent fund managers.

Sensitivity analysis—interest rates
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of 
the Board’s cash assets at the end of the reporting period on the profit for 
the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the 
change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.

Interest rate sensitivities for fixed income instruments held in managed funds 
are not provided as the interest rate exposure is managed by the independent 
fund manager and it is not provided to the Board.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
2017 2016

Carry ing
amount
$’000

Profit
$’000

Equity
$’000

Carry ing
amount 
$’000

Profit
$’000

Equity
$’000

Financial assets
Cash and cash 
equivalents 1,957 803
– increased by* – 20 20 – 8 8
– decreased by* – (20) (20) – (8) (8)
Term deposits – – – 16,135
– increased by – – – – 161 161
– decreased by – – – – (161) (161)
Managed funds
– increased by 5,353 54 54 – – –
– decreased by (54) (54) – – –
*   The sensitivity to an interest rate change of ± 1% calculated on the average balance of cash and cash 

equivalents held during the year.

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual 
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Board. For trade receivables, the 
Board adopts the policy of dealing only with customers of appropriate credit 
history, and obtaining sufficient security, where appropriate, to mitigate credit 
risk. For managed funds included in available-for-sale assets, the credit risk 
is managed by the independent fund manager. For other financial assets, the 
Board adopts the policy of dealing only with high credit quality counterparties.

Credit exposure to an individual counterparty is restricted by credit limits  
that are approved by management, based on ongoing credit evaluation. 

The counterparty’s payment profile and credit exposure are continuously 
monitored by the respective management. The Board’s trade receivables 
comprise 61 debtors (2016: 71 debtors) that represent 100% of trade 
receivables.

As the Board does not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit risk 
for each class of financial instruments is the carrying amount of that class of 
financial instrument presented on the Statement of Financial Position.

Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired
Bank deposits that are neither past due nor impaired are mainly deposits with 
banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies. Trade 
receivables that are neither past due nor impaired are substantially companies with 
a good collection track record with the Board. The Board’s trade receivables not 
past due include receivables amounting to $1,256,000 (2016: $1,522,440).

Financial assets that are past due and/or impaired
There is no other class of financial assets that is past due and/or impaired 
except for trade receivables. For the aged analysis of trade receivables past 
due but not impaired, refer to Note 21 — ‘Receivables’.

(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Board is unable to meet its financial obligations 
as they fall due. The Board is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the 
normal course of business.

The Board manages the liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash and term 
deposits to enable the Board to meet its normal operating commitments. 
Liquidity risk exposure from managed fund investments classified as available-
for-sale assets is managed by the independent fund manager. The Board does 
not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the 
financial assets it holds. The Board also does not hold any financial assets 
that had to have their terms renegotiated that would have otherwise resulted in 
them being past due or impaired.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
The following table details the exposure to the liquidity and interest rate risk as 
at the end of the reporting period. The contractual maturity amounts in the table 
are representative of the undiscounted amounts at the end of the reporting 
period. An adjustment for discounting has been made where material.

2017

Weigh ted
average
effec tive
interest 

rate
%

Variable
interest

rate
Less  
than

1 year
$’000

Non-interest 
bearing Con trac tual

maturity
date

Within  
1 year 
$’000

Carry ing
amount
$’000

Less 
than

1 year
$’000

3–5
years
$’000

Financial assets
Cash and cash 
equivalents 1.50% 1,957 – – – 1,957
Receivables 1,256 – – 1,256
Available-for-sale 
financial assets – – 52,258 – 52,258

1,957 1,256 52,258 – 55,471
Financial 
liabilities
Payables – 959 – – 959

– 959 – – 959

2016

Weigh ted
average
effec tive
interest 

rate 
%

Variable
interest

rate
Less 
than 

1 year 
$’000

Non-interest 
bearing Con trac tual

maturity
date

Within  
1 year 
$’000

Carry ing
amount
$’000

Less 
than

1 year
$’000

3–5
years
$’000

Financial assets
Cash and cash 
equivalents 1.95% 803 – – – 803
Receivables – 1,523 – – 1,523
Other financial 
assets 2.92% 16,135 – – – 16,135
Available-for-sale 
financial assets – – 31,783 – 31,783

16,938 1,523 31,783 – 50,244
Financial 
liabilities
Payables – 982 – – 982

– 982 – – 982

(d) Fair values
The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is the amount at which the 
asset could be sold or the liability transferred in a current transaction between 
market participants, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The fair values and net fair values of financial instrument assets and liabilities 
are determined and classified as follows:
• Level 1: the fair value of financial instruments with standard terms and 

conditions; traded in active liquid markets and determined with reference to 
quoted market prices.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

39. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
• Level 2: the fair value is determined using inputs other than quoted prices 

that are observable for the financial asset or liability, either directly or 
indirectly.

• Level 3: the fair value is determined in accordance with generally accepted 
pricing models using unobservable market inputs.

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at 
amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless 
otherwise stated in the applicable notes.

Financial assets measured at fair value:

2017

Carrying
amount
$’000

Fair value measurement at end of 
reporting period

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Financial assets
Managed funds 52,258 52,258 – –
Available-for-sale financial 
assets – – – –

52,258 52,258 – –

2016

Carrying
amount
$’000

Fair value measurement at end of 
reporting period

Level 1
$’000

Level 2
$’000

Level 3
$’000

Financial assets
Available-for-sale financial 
assets 31,783 31,783 – –

31,783 31,783 – –

(e) Foreign currency risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of an 
exposure will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The 
Board is exposed to the risk of changes in foreign exchange rates primarily as 
a result of international equity investments by the managed funds classified as 
available-for-sale assets.

Foreign currency risk relating to the managed fund investments is managed by 
the independent fund manager.

40. REMUNERATION OF AUDITOR
Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the 
current financial year is as follows:

2017
$’000

2016
$’000

48 48
Auditing the accounts, financial statements and 
performance indicators 48 48

41. SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(a) Write-offs
One bad debt for $456 was written off by the Board during the period  
(2016: nil).

(b) Losses through theft, defaults and other causes
There were no losses of public money or other public property through theft or 
default during the financial year or the comparative year.

(c) Gifts of public property
There were no gifts of public property during the financial year or the 
comparative year.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2017

We hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Metropolitan Cemeteries 
Board’s performance, and fairly represent the performance of the Metropolitan Cemeteries Board for the financial year ended 30 June 2017.

Dr Leonie Liveris 
CHAIR

Joe O’Dea (Jnr) 
BOARD MEMBER

Peter Deague
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

21 August 2017

CERTIFICATION OF PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
A key component of the MCB’s focus on improving its service to the 
community is to ensure its performance is measured in a way that adds value 
to the overall planning and delivery of these services.

Outcome
To provide funerals (burials, cremations and entombments) and memorial 
services that meet the needs and expectations of the community.

Effectiveness Indicator
The extent of customer satisfaction with funeral and memorial services 
provided.

Customer satisfaction with the MCB overall continues to be high, with the 
proportion of completely satisfied and highly satisfied respondents remaining 
above the target of 85.0%.

Target
%

2016/17
%

2015/16
%

2014/15
%

2013/14
%

85.0 95.6 95.7 94.9 93.0

1. Facilities
a. Appropriateness for differing religious and cultural beliefs
In 2016/17, 98.5% felt the MCB accommodated their loved one’s religious or 
cultural beliefs extremely or very well.

2016/17
%

2015/16
%

2014/15
%

2013/14
%

Accommodation 
for religious and 
cultural beliefs 98.5 96.3 96.8 98.0

b. Presentation of the grounds and buildings
Based on a rating of being extremely or very clean, the grounds and facilities 
were rated as follows:

Area or facility 2016/17
%

2015/16
%

2014/15
%

2013/14
%

Chapels 98.9 98.8 99.4 99.3

Condolence lounges 99.1 98.5 99.3 99.5

Memorial gardens 96.8 94.9 95.8 97.9

Lawn burial areas 94.4 94.8 95.3 94.3

Natural burial areas 94.6 92.3 98.6 88.9

Cafes 98.3 91.3 93.8 93.1

Mausoleum 94.0 90.9 93.5 89.7

Toilets 90.7 90.7 89.5 90.7

Monumental burial areas 89.9 82.8 87.4 83.8

2. Number of funerals performed with no incident

2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14

No. of funerals 11,921 11,493 11,239 10,856

No. of incidents – – – 1
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3. Number of complaints received on customer service issues
There were 170 complaints registered during the reporting period (2015/16: 
118). The main areas of complaints recorded were:

Area of 
complaint

2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 2013/14

% No. % No. % No. % No.

Grounds/
operations 52 88 31 37 35 49 42 76

Facilities 16 27 14 16 17 23 19 35

Products  
& services 22 37 18 21 9 13 19 35

Renewal 
program 1 3 4 5 1 1 3 6

Accidents 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 3

Other* 9 15 33 39 38 53 15 28

Total 100 170 100 118 100 139 100 183

* Other relates to complaints about masons, funeral directors and the café.

Number of customer complaints
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4. Response time on phone calls/emails/personal enquiries etc.
The MCB’s complaints handling system is consistent with the Australian 
Standard on complaints handling AS ISO 10002-2006. The 170 complaints 
received by the MCB during the reporting period met the following criteria:

Complaint handling criteria 2016/17
%

2015/16
%

2014/15
%

2013/14
%

Acknowledged within 5 working days 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

Responded to within 15 working days 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

Investigated and responded to within 
2 working days 65.0 65.0 84.0 73.0

Resolved without further incident 99.5 99.0 100.0 100.0

5. Customer service experience
Satisfaction with the service provided by MCB staff continues to be highly 
rated. Overall, staff were given the following ratings of extremely or very 
satisfied:

Service area 2016/17
%

2015/16
%

2014/15
%

2013/14
%

Information given was easy to 
understand 93.6 93.9 94.6 92.9

Professional 96.9 93.7 95.5 94.8

Understanding the clients’ needs 95.2 93.7 92.6 93.4

Responding to enquiries promptly 94.7 93.0 92.6 93.4

Compassionate 94.1 88.8 91.6 88.8

Customer service experience
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6. Pricing, products and services
The MCB seeks to provide a range of products and services at prices that 
enable everyone to find extremely or very easily something to meet their needs:

Pricing, Products and Services
2016/17

%

2015/16

%

2014/15

%

2013/14

%

Find a grave, memorial location or crypt 86.3 87.5 90.9 87.5

Find a memorial plaque, granite base 
or urn 88.2 87.2 83.5 87.9

Find a suitable memorial appointment 87.2 81.9 90.8 84.7

Pricing, products and services

Notes
1. A target of 85% was set for each indicator. The target percentage 

considers the environment in which the survey is conducted. Depending on 
personal circumstances, respondents may be at any stage in the grieving 
process, which may impact upon their responses.

2. A total of 2,000 surveys were conducted. Family members of the deceased 
were surveyed between 4 January 2016 and 4 January 2017. Visitors and 
mourners were not included in the ‘Public’ group as the survey was targeted 
at users of the services. The following table summarises the survey response 
rates and the resultant theoretical sample error for each of the groups 
surveyed. Respondents were mailed a questionnaire to complete of their 
own accord and return to the research provider within a defined timeframe.

Group Population Sample RR% Error

Public 2,000 466 23.6% ±4.4%

Group = Customer Groups; Sample = Sample Frame; RR% = Response Rate 
%; Error = Survey Error at 95% confidence level.
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Efficiency Indicator
Average cost per funeral
Over the past six years the average cost per funeral was:

Actual
$

Target
$

2016/17 2,137 2,309

2015/16 2,119 2,273

2014/15 2,088 2,255

2013/14 2,055 2,189

2012/13 2,033 2,136

2011/12 1,912 1,964

The average cost per funeral includes all operating expenses. There has been 
an increase in the current year’s average cost of a funeral compared to the 
previous year by $18. The actual average cost is below the target figure for the 
year by $172.

A comparison of the calculated cost per funeral with other government 
controlled cemetery operators in Australia, based upon data sourced from 
the published annual reports of the following cemeteries for the year ending 
30 June 2016:

Cemetery operator
Average 
cost per 
funeral

% cost 
greater/

(less) than 
MCB*

Number of 
funerals

Metropolitan Cemeteries Board* $2,119 – 11,493

Southern Metropolitan Cemeteries 
Trust—Victoria $3,560 68% 12,936

Greater Metropolitan Cemeteries  
Trust —Victoria $3,019 42% 12,216

Adelaide Cemeteries  
Authority—South Australia $3,128 48% 3,177

*  For comparative purposes, the ‘% cost greater/(less) than MCB’ has been expressed against the actual MCB 
figures for the 2015/16 financial year.

Notes
1. Funeral services include cremations and interments in gravesites and the 

mausoleums (if appropriate).
2. Costs of funeral services include the provision and maintenance of grounds, 

chapels, crematorium, administration costs of the cemeteries, burial 
services, memorial products and the supply of information to customers.

3. The increase in the MCB cost per funeral in 2016/17 compared to the 
actual cost in 2015/16 has risen due to an increase in employment costs, 
costs associated with suppliers and services, and cost of goods sold.
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No Ministerial directives were received during the financial year relevant to 
the setting of desired outcomes or operational objectives, the achievement of 
desired outcomes or operational objectives, investment activities or financing 
activities.

OTHER FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

Pricing Policies of Services Provided
The Board has discretion over pricing for goods and services provided and 
sets its schedule of fees and charges in accordance with section 53 of the 
Cemeteries Act 1986 (WA).

The list of fees and charges for the year ending 30 June 2017 was published 
in the Gazette and took effect from 1 July 2017.

Major Capital Projects
The construction of the Rockingham Regional Memorial Park crematorium 
project progressed during the 2016/17 year. This facility, which has been 
proposed for many years, is the culmination of much planning and targeted 
resource allocation. The total cost of the project is $3.475m. In 2016/17 
the project was largely completed and $2.681m was expended. A further 
$0.486m is anticipated to be paid in 2017/18 once testing and commissioning 
are completed.

This will provide a vital new facility to meet the needs of the rapidly growing 
south-west urban corridor.

MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES
Employment and Industrial Relations
Staff Profile

 2016/17 2015/16

Full-time permanent 126 124
Full-time contract 7 11
Part-time measured on a FTE basis 20.5 14.54
On secondment nil 0.6
Total 153.5 150.14
Note: The above figures represent full-time equivalent (FTE). Actual head count as at 30 June 2017 is 158.

Increasing the MCB’s Workforce Capability
In fostering a culture that encourages high individual and organisational 
performance and increasing workforce capability, the MCB has implemented 
several strategies as detailed in the Building and Expanding Our People 
Capability section of this report. In addition, 98% of employees had at least 
one performance management meeting with their manager.

Workers’  Compensation Claims
The MCB carried forward nine workers’ compensation claims from 2015/16 
into the 2016/17 financial year. Of these nine claims, eight have been finalised.

Of the nine new workers’ compensation claims received in 2016/17, 
seven have been finalised. As a result, the MCB has three open workers’ 
compensation claims at the end of 2016/17.
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Contracts with Senior Officers
Other than normal contracts of employment of service, no senior officers, or 
firms of which senior officers are members, or entities in which senior officers 
have substantial interests, had any interests in existing or proposed contracts 
with the MCB.

Board and Committee Remuneration

Position Name
Gross/actual 
remuneration

Chair Leonie Liveris $14,070

Deputy Chair Joe O’Dea $7,035

Member Darrell Jones $7,035

Member Tony Evans $7,035

Member Brenda Robbins $7,035

Member Ricki Smith $7,035

Member Don Whittington $7,035

The Monument Assessment and Advisory Committee met once in 2016/17, for 
which member Ron Bodycoat was paid $86.

Insurance Premiums Paid to Indemnify Members of the Board
An insurance policy has been taken out to indemnify members of the 
Board against any liability incurred under section 13 or 14 of the Statutory 
Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996 (WA). The amount of the 
insurance premium paid in 2016/17 was $4,657.95 (including GST).

Unauthorised Use of Credit Cards
Officers of the MCB hold corporate credit cards where their functions warrant 
usage of this facility. There were no instances where the Western Australian 
Government purchasing card was used for a personal purpose.

GOVERNANCE DISCLOSURES

METROPOLITAN CEMETERIES BOARD  | ANNUAL REPORT 2016-2017105  



Expenditure on Advertising, Market Research, 
Polling and Direct Mail
In accordance with section 175ZE of the 
Electoral Act 1907 (WA), the MCB incurred the 
following expenditure in relation to advertising, 
market research, polling, direct mail and media 
advertising:

Expenditure Total

Advertising agencies $0

Market research—Research 
Solutions 

$18,972

Polling organisations $0

Direct mail organisations $0

Media advertising—Adcorp $14,920

Total expenditure for 2016/17 $33,892

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan
In implementing its Disability Access and Inclusion 
Plan 2011–2016 (DAIP) the MCB conducted 
building and facility assessments at all its sites. 
This resulted in various improvements.

Fremantle/Rockingham
Disability access was included in the construction 
of the new crematorium and administration building 
at Rockingham, with an extra disability parking bay 
in the compound, disability access from the car 
park to the administration building, and disability 
access toilet facilities.

Karrakatta
The Mausoleum Stage 7 planning continued 
in accordance with Building Codes to ensure 
disability access.

Road and parking improvements were undertaken 
to remove hazards to mobility access.

In response to feedback received from MCB 
clients, the unauthorised use of the disability 
parking spaces by rail commuters within the 
Railway Road parking area has been reduced. This 
was achieved through collaboration with the City 
of Nedlands, with signage indicating the applicable 
time limit erected and infringement notices being 
issued.

Pinnaroo/Midland/Guildford
The automated hand-drying facilities in the Pinnaroo 
Chapel disability access toilet were replaced and 
repositioned for more effective access.

The new landscaping design at the Santalum 
Court development at Pinnaroo now includes 
mobility enhanced pathways.

The MCB’s internet and intranet are compliant 
and meet Web Content Accessibility Guidelines 
accessibility standards level AA in accordance 
with the State Government Standards.

OTHER LEGAL REQUIREMENTS

The MCB has developed a Disability Employment 
Strategy in which contact with Disability 
Employment Service providers has been 
established and used for short-term contract 
opportunities for people with a disability. One 
such contractor has since won a permanent 
appointment through a recruitment process.

A new DAIP has been prepared for 2017–2021.

The representation of employees with a disability  
is 2.61% as at 30 June 2017, exceeding the target 
of 1.4%.

Compliance with Public Sector Standards and 
Ethical Codes
Public Sector Management Act 1994 (WA), 
section 31(1)

Compliance issues that arose during 2016/17:
• Public sector standards and the Commissioner’s 

Instructions: Nil.
• WA Code of Ethics: Nil.
• MCB Code of Conduct: Four.

There were nine disciplinary processes undertaken 
during this financial year, resulting in four 
terminations of employment (two by resignation) 
and five warning letters.
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The MCB continued to implement the following 
strategies to ensure compliance with Public Sector 
Standards and Code of Ethics and the MCB Code 
of Conduct:
• All new employees are provided with a copy of 

the MCB Code of Conduct (in accordance with 
Commissioner’s Instruction No. 8: Codes of 
conduct and integrity training), as well as copies 
of the MCB’s Social Media, Email and Internet 
Use policies upon appointment.

• Employees are required to complete a 
declaration stating that they have read and 
understand the MCB Code of Conduct and 
policies (this declaration is retained on each 
employee’s personnel file).

• Corporate induction is conducted for new 
employees, including raising awareness of the 
MCB’s Acceptable Behaviour and Misconduct 
Policy, and Public Interest Disclosure Policy and 
procedures.

• Mandatory Accountable and Ethical Decision 
Making training (completed by 76% of 
employees).

• New employees attend the ‘Induction: Your 
Guide to Ethics and Integrity in the WA Public 
Sector’ seminar (100% of new employees either 
attended or are registered to attend).

• Annual Conflict of Interest declarations are 
completed by employees in identified positions.

Board members continue to be supported in their 
personal development, with training being provided 
in Accountable and Ethical Decision Making, 
Public Interest Disclosures and Conflict of Interest.

In 2016/17, six of the seven Board members 
completed refresher training on the above subjects.

Records Management
Recordkeeping Plan
The MCB is committed to using an accountable 
and transparent framework for the management 
of its records. The MCB complies with the State 
Records Act 2000 (WA) and has in place an 
approved Recordkeeping Plan that outlines in 
detail its recordkeeping program. The MCB 
addresses its compliance with the State Records 
Commission Standard 2 Recordkeeping plans: 
Principle 6 — Compliance as follows.

1. The efficiency and effectiveness of the 
MCB’s Recordkeeping Plan is evaluated not 
less than once every five years.

The MCB’s Recordkeeping Plan review report 
was submitted to the State Records Office in 
September 2016. The Recordkeeping Plan review 
will be completed by 31 December 2017.

2. The MCB conducts a recordkeeping training 
program.

Recordkeeping Training Plan
The annual recordkeeping training plan and 
program was developed and implemented by  
the Senior Knowledge Management Officer.  
The program provides ongoing information 
sessions on recordkeeping awareness raising  
and using HPE Content Manager 9 (CM9). 
Training has and will continue to be delivered to 
existing and new employees at all MCB sites.  
The training plan has been designed to ensure 
that all MCB staff are aware of their recordkeeping 
responsibilities and to enable them to access 
suitable and ongoing training throughout the year.

During 2016/17 a wide variety of recordkeeping 
and TRIM/CM9 training was delivered in line with 
the MCB’s records management training plan. The 
training plan includes recordkeeping inductions, 
one-on-one training for relevant staff and specific 
work related groups.

The investment in one-on-one TRIM training 
once again remained the popular choice and has 
resulted in further improvement and increase in 
the number of records processed. During 2016/17 
a total of 25,442 records were processed, an 
increase of 23% from 2015/16.
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Recordkeeping Awareness Raising
Presentations on various aspects of the 
recordkeeping program are delivered on an as 
required basis to relevant staff by the Senior 
Knowledge Management Officer. These sessions 
advise staff of their recordkeeping responsibilities, 
requirements for compliance with the MCB’s 
Recordkeeping Plan and the consequences for 
poor recordkeeping to ensure accountability. The 
Knowledge Management team were also given 
the opportunity to attend external recordkeeping 
training throughout the year.

TRIM / CM9 Training
Individual hands-on TRIM/CM9 training was 
delivered by the Senior Knowledge Management 
Officer to staff at all sites as required. This training 
reintroduced the basic fundamentals of the system 
and the sessions targeted each user’s specific 
requirements.

With the implementation of CM9, a special training 
plan and schedule was developed for relevant 
users. One-on-one training incorporating basic 
fundamentals and users’ specific requirements 
was the preferred choice for users.

Recordkeeping Induction
A recordkeeping induction is provided for all new 
employees as part of the MCB’s induction program 
and is presented by the Senior Knowledge 
Management Officer. The presentation advises 
staff of their recordkeeping responsibilities, 
requirements for compliance with the MCB’s 
Recordkeeping Plan and consequences for poor 
recordkeeping to ensure accountability. Relevant 
MCB staff are provided with further one-on-one 
awareness sessions and CM9 training.

3. The efficiency and effectiveness of the 
recordkeeping training program is reviewed 
from time to time.

An annual review is conducted of the MCB’s 
recordkeeping training program to ensure that it 
is efficient and effective. Feedback is sought from 
all participants and is incorporated into future 
training sessions. New recordkeeping projects 
are included in the training program to advise all 
staff of new and updated policies, procedures and 
system functionality.
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Substantive Equality
The MCB is committed to the principles of 
substantive equality and the elimination of systemic 
racial discrimination from all its policies, practices 
and services. Staff work towards providing 
services that meet the different needs of WA’s 
diverse community.

Government Building Contracts
The MCB did not have any building, construction 
and maintenance contracts that have a labour 
component of $2 million and over.

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury 
Management
The MCB is committed to providing and 
maintaining a safe and healthy environment for its 
employees, contractors and visitors in accordance 
with the Occupational Safety and Health Act 
and Regulations, Australian Standards, Codes of 
Practice and Guidance Notes.

The MCB strives for continuous improvement of 
injury prevention and injury management through 
documented return to work plans.

The Corporate Executive demonstrates this 
commitment through the review of policies and a 
written Occupational Safety and Health (OSH) 
Policy Statement signed by the Chief Executive 
Officer. These are available on the intranet for 
employees to view.

The Corporate Executive and bi-monthly Board 
meetings have occupational safety and health as a 
standing agenda item.

Occupational safety and health statistics are 
provided to Corporate Executive and Board 
members via quarterly strategic plan dashboard 
reports and to the OSH Committee.

The MCB provides resources for the training of 
the Safety and Health Representatives and for 
employees to attend the Worksafe Safe Work 
Workshops.

Consultation with Employees
Consultation is an essential part of managing 
safety and health risks. The MCB believes a safe 
workplace is more easily achieved when everyone 
involved in the tasks communicates with each 
other to identify hazards, risks and OSH concerns 
and works together to find solutions. The MCB 
achieves this by:
• Regular Toolbox Meetings whereby teams talk to 

each other about OSH issues, seek and share 
views and Supervisors provide information to 
employees.

• Eight trained Safety and Health Representatives, 
who consult across the six sites, represent 
the safety and health interests of their work 
colleagues.

• The Safety and Health Representatives 
attend and contribute to the OSH Committee 
Meetings, which are held bi-monthly.

• Site visits by the Human Resources OSH 
Officer to discuss safety, health and workers’ 
compensation issues.

GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS
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• A continual review of the material on the 
MCB intranet, which provides online access 
to numerous safety and health, workers’ 
compensation and wellbeing information.

• Promoting ‘Safety is everyone’s responsibility’, 
and encouraging employees to report hazards, 
near misses, accidents, by completing the 
Employee Incident Report Forms or logging 
a maintenance service request through the 
Maintenance & Hazard Issue Management 
System.

• Conducting face to face Corporate and site 
based inductions with new employees and those 
transferring between worksites and contractors.

Compliance with the Workers’ Compensation 
and Injury Management Act 1981 (WA)   
The MCB ensures compliance with the injury 
management requirements of the Workers’ 
Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981 
(WA) through an approach to injury management 
that combines expert assistance and knowledge 
from external professionals, with support of the 
Supervisors and a dedicated Occupational Safety 
and Health, Injury Management and Workers’ 
Compensation Officer.

This is accomplished by:
• Early intervention and communication with the 

employee and their medical practitioners.
• A commitment for injury management to be 

taken care of within the MCB is preferred; 
however, external rehabilitation providers are 
engaged when required.

• Injury management is supported by the 
development and use of documented return to 
work programs for both employees who become 
ill or injured while at work and for employees 
who sustain a personal injury or illness.

• Development and dissemination of information 
to medical practitioners on the roles within the 
MCB so that the injured or ill employee receives 
the most appropriate care.

Occupational Safety and Health Management 
Systems
Continuous improvement underpins the MCB’s 
approach to all its activities, therefore the MCB 
is constantly looking at safer and healthier ways 
to conduct its business. While acknowledging 
the facilities and operations are well managed 
and maintained, a key focus for the MCB in the 
future is to adopt a more systematic approach by 
standardising procedures to facilitate opportunities 
for process improvement. The MCB is currently 
reviewing and developing its processes so that 
it can move towards an Occupational Safety and 
Health Management System (OSHMS) based on 
the recognised WorkSafe Plan as well as elements 
of AS/NZS 4801 – OSHMS.
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Occupational safety, health and injury management performance against targets

Measure
Actual Results Results against Target

2016/17 2015/16 2014/15 Target Comment on result

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 0

Lost time injury and/or 
disease incidence rate

3.25% 1.33% 4.85% 0 or 10% reduction Target achieved with a  
32% improvement1

Lost time injury and/or 
disease severity rate

0% 0% 14.28% 0 or 10% reduction Target achieved

Percentage of injured workers 
returned to work: 
(i) within 13 weeks

 
 

80% 

 
 

0%

 
 

14% Actual result to be stated 
Greater than or equal to 80%

Target achieved 

(ii) within 26 weeks 100% 0% 14% Actual result to be stated 
Greater than or equal to 80%

Target achieved

Percentage of managers 
trained in occupational safety, 
health and injury management 
responsibilities

78% 85% 94% Greater than or equal to 80% Employees were acting in 
managers’ positions and 
new managers unable 
to attend training during 
2016/17

1 The reduction is calculated over a three-year period.
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Corporate Governance
The corporate governance framework guided 
the actions of individuals by providing clarity 
of direction as to appropriate behaviour and 
decision making. It encouraged the efficient and 
effective use of resources and equally required 
accountability for the stewardship of those 
resources and associated outcomes.

The Board Governance Charter details clear 
guidelines on the role, responsibilities and 
operations of Board members. It was updated in 
2016/17.

The Committee for Finance, Audit and Risk 
(CFAR) provides assurance and assistance to the 
Board on financial, audit and risk related matters. 
The CFAR met five times in 2016/17 and ensured 
that risk management was effective.

The MCB’s delegation of authority comprises 
appointments, authorisations, financial 
authorisations, procurement, information and 
communication technology, and human resources. 

The table of delegations, authorisations and 
appointments ensures that MCB officers have 
the appropriate legal authority to exercise powers 
and carry out certain actions for which they are 
personally accountable. Effective delegations 
and authorisations ensure the transfer of decision 
making and accountability within the MCB’s 
operations and are critical to the achievement of 
outcomes.

The policy framework provides for the development, 
approval, implementation, review and availability of 
all policies. The MCB policies are generally brief, 
outcomes-focused statements that clearly identify 
the particular way in which the MCB manages key 
issues and responsibilities arising from a variety of 
sources including legislation, general government 
policy and the directions and goals as set by the 
CEO and the Board. During the review period, 56 
policies were updated (mostly HR).

The MCB’s risk register was reviewed and updated 
in 2016/17. The risk framework includes business 
continuity planning and crisis management, 
and contributes to those aspects of corporate 
governance that are directed towards enhancing 
organisational reputation and performance.  
It provides a structure to facilitate communication 
and consultation between internal and external 
stakeholders in defining and achieving 
organisational goals.

A risk dashboard is presented to the CFAR and 
the Board on a quarterly basis. The dashboard 
is an overview of the risk register, providing a 
visual focus on extreme, high and moderate risks. 
It also contains action statements and details of 
work in progress to mitigate these risks. Risks are 
managed through a risk software system.

Accountability
Accountability comprises audit reports, 
complaints handling, Freedom of Information, 
Public Information Disclosure, grievances, fraud 
prevention, Public Sector Standards in Human 
Resource Management and internal controls.

The MCB’s internal controls are also used to 
monitor compliance with government policy. 
Internal audits provide an independent overview of 
the MCB’s controls environment.
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Complaints and Feedback
The MCB treats complaints and feedback very 
seriously and as opportunities for improvement. 
There were 170 complaints recorded from 1 July 
2016 to 30 June 2017, an increase of 52 from 
2015/16.

All complaints were acknowledged within five 
working days. The majority of complaints requiring 
investigation were resolved within 15 working 
days from the date the complaint was received. 
For those that were finalised after 15 days, the 
complainants were kept informed of developments 
and were assured that the investigation 
was ongoing. Of the complaints, 65% were 
investigated and resolved within two working days. 
Most of the complaints handled by the MCB were 
resolved without further incident.

Complaints by category

Facilities 27 15%

Grounds/operations 88 52%

Products/services 37 22%

Cemetery renewal  3  2%

Other  15  9%

Total 170 100%

The MCB received 36 registered compliments 
and notes of appreciation, an increase from 26 in 
2015/16. These related to the professional and 
timely nature of rendered services, the caring and 
respect shown by MCB staff and the well-kept 
gardens of the MCB sites.
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